

fighting heart disease and stroke european heart network

Transforming European food and drink policies for cardiovascular health

September 2017

SUMMARY



Transforming European food and drink policies for cardiovascular health

September 2017

SUMMARY



fighting heart disease and stroke european heart network

Table of contents

European Heart Network	6
Acknowledgements	6
Executive summary	8
Introduction	
1 Diet and cardiovascular disease – why action is needed	
1.1 A leading cause of premature death in Europe	
1.1.1 A huge burden of illness and disability	
1.1.2 Inequalities across the European region	14
1.2 Dietary contribution to the burden of cardiovascular disease in Europe	
1.3 Clear case for investing in prevention	
2 Food, drink and cardiovascular disease: the science	
2.1 Summary of latest science on foods, nutrients and cardiovascular disease	
2.1.1 Sugars and sugar-sweetened drinks	
2.1.2 Dietary fat and cardiovascular disease	
2.1.3 Salt – update on evidence on population salt reduction	
2.2 What do EHN proposed population goals mean for food and drink patterns?	
2.2.1 Other dietary components and cardiovascular disease	
3 Sustainable food systems for cardiovascular health	
3.1 Agriculture and supply side issues: what are we producing/importing?	24
3.2 Impact of trade and investment agreements on food and nutrition	24
3.3 Food promotion as a driver of consumption patterns	25
3.4 Food-environment links – matching cardiovascular health promotion with a sustainable food system	27
3.4.1 Impact of food systems on the environment	
3.4.2 Impact of predicted environmental changes on diet and diet-related health	28
3.1.3. Identification of ideal dietary patterns that are both healthy and sustainable	
3.4.7. Existing proposed policy solutions to health-environment issues	
3.4.4 LAISting proposed policy solutions to health-environment issues	20
4 Effective policies for promoting healthy dietary patterns	
4.1 Recent developments on food and drink policies for cardiovascular health	
4.2 Recommendations for food and drink policies for cardiovascular health	
4.2.1 Implement policies to tackle health inequalities in Europe	
4.2.2 Ensure that robust mechanisms for nutrition governance are in place and fit-for-purp	ose33
4.2.3 Develop an integrated health and environment approach to food systems and promo	te health-
environment win-wins in food-based dietary guidelines	
4.2.4 EHN's recommendations – three clusters of specific recommendations	
References	
Annex: Proposed population goals	46

List of figures

Figure 1	Disability-adjusted life years lost by cause, 2015, European region	12
Figure 2	Disability-adjusted life years lost by cause, 2015, European Union	12
Figure 3	Healthy life expectancy (HLY), years lived in ill health and current and future retirement	
	ages in some European countries	13
Figure 4	Age-standardised death rates from heart disease, men, latest available year, European region. 1	14
Figure 5	Age-standardised death rates from stroke women, latest available year, European region1	14
Figure 6	Links between diet quality and food systems.	23
Figure 7	Opportunities to improve nutrition and diets along the food value chain	23
Figure 8	Links between agricultural policies, diet and non-communicable diseases	25
Figure 9	Food systems, their drivers and feedbacks	27
Figure 10	EHN's package of recommendations for food and nutrition policies for cardiovascular health 3	32

List of tables

Table 1	Total cost of CVD, heart disease and stroke, 2015, European Union	12
Table 2	Summary of revised population goals	16
Table 3	Summary of some recent developments in key policy areas in Europe	30
Table 4	EHN recommendations: Evidence base for three clusters of specific recommendations	34
Table I	Proposed population goals for foods and other related goals	46
Table II	Proposed population goals for nutrients and other components	47

European Heart Network

The European Heart Network (EHN) is a Brussels-based alliance of heart foundations and like-minded non-governmental organisations throughout Europe, with member organisations in 25 countries. EHN plays a leading role in the prevention and reduction of cardiovascular diseases, in particular heart disease and stroke, through advocacy, networking, capacity-building and patient support, so that they are no longer a major cause of premature death and disability throughout Europe.

Members of the European Heart Network

Austrian Heart Foundation Belgian Heart League Bosnia & Herzegovina Foundation of Health and Heart British Heart Foundation Croatian Heart House Foundation Danish Heart Foundation Dutch Heart Foundation Faroese Heart Foundation Finnish Heart Association German Heart Foundation Heart and Vessel Group (The Netherlands) Hellenic Heart Foundation Hungarian National Heart Foundation Icelandic Heart Association Irish Heart Foundation

Italian Association against Thrombosis and cardiovascular diseases (ALT Onlus) Italian Heart Foundation Italian Society for Cardiovascular Prevention (SIPREC) Lithuanian Heart Association Northern Ireland Chest Heart & Stroke Portuguese Heart Foundation Romanian Heart Foundation Serbian Heart Foundation Slovak Heart to Heart League Slovenian Heart Foundation Spanish Heart Foundation Swedish Heart and Lung Association Swedish Heart Lung Foundation Swiss Heart Foundation **Turkish Heart Foundation**

Acknowledgements

The European Heart Network would like to thank the contributing experts, EHN's Nutrition Expert Group and EHN member organisations for their invaluable input into this paper.

CONTRIBUTING EXPERTS

This summary paper is adapted from a full-length paper, which includes a number of papers contributed by subject experts. The papers are available in the full-length report and for download individually. These papers have been adapted to produce the relevant sections in this summary paper. EHN is most grateful to the following experts for their contributions to the full-length version:

Dietary sugars and the risk of cardiovascular disease: an update

Professor Emeritus Marleen A van Baak

Department of Human Biology and Movement Sciences, NUTRIM School of Nutrition and Translational Research in Metabolism, Maastricht University, Maastricht, The Netherlands

Fats: the role of the quality of dietary fat on atherosclerotic vascular diseases Professor Ursula Schwab

School of Medicine, Institute of Public Health and Clinical Nutrition, University of Eastern Finland and Institute of Clinical Medicine, Internal Medicine, Kuopio University Hospital, Kuopio, Finland

Honorary Professor W Philip T James

London School of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine London, UK

Professor Matti Uusitupa

School of Medicine Institute of Public Health and Clinical Nutrition University of Eastern Finland Kuopio, Finland

fighting heart disease and stroke european heart network

CONTRIBUTING EXPERTS (continued)

Salt – the benefits of population salt reduction: update of evidence since 2011

Professor Francesco P Cappuccio Head of the World Health Organization Collaborating Centre for Nutrition University of Warwick Coventry, UK

Agriculture and supply side issues: What are we producing/importing?

Dr Charoula-Konstantia Nikolaou Université Catholique De Louvain, Marie Curie Research Fellow, Belgium

Impact of trade and investment agreements on food and nutrition Dr Anne Marie Thow University of Sydney, Australia

Food promotion as a driver of consumption patterns Dr Emma Boyland University of Liverpool, UK

Dr Rosa Whalen University of Liverpool, UK

Food-environment links – matching cardiovascular health promotion with a sustainable food system Dr Rebecca White Environmental Change Institute Oxford University, UK

Special Advisers

Dr João Breda

Programme Manager, Nutrition, Physical Activity and Obesity World Health Organization, Regional Office for Europe

Dr Matija Cevc President Slovenian Heart Foundation Board member of the European Heart Network

Professor Martin Wiseman Visiting Professor in Human Nutrition, University of Southampton; Medical and Scientific Adviser, World Cancer Research Fund, UK

EHN'S NUTRITION EXPERT GROUP

Professor Mike Rayner Chair of the EHN nutrition expert group

Professor of Population Health Director, Centre on Population Approaches for Non-Communicable Disease Prevention, Nuffield Department of Population Health University of Oxford, UK

Dr Mirjana Gurinović

Associate Research Professor Centre of Research Excellence in Nutrition and Metabolism Institute for Medical Research University of Belgrade, Serbia

Honorary Professor W Philip T James

London School of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine, UK

Professor Ursula Schwab

School of Medicine, Institute of Public Health and Clinical Nutrition, University of Eastern Finland and Institute of Clinical Medicine, Internal Medicine, Kuopio University Hospital, Kuopio, Finland

Dr Ineke van Dis

Senior Policy Advisor/Nutritional scientist, Dutch Heart Foundation, The Netherlands

Contributing authors

Karen McColl Consultant

Susanne Løgstrup Director, European Heart Network

Marleen Kestens Network Coordinator and Public Affairs Manager, European Heart Network

Executive summary

Despite considerable progress in tackling cardiovascular disease (CVD), it remains the leading cause of death and a major cause of illness and disability for men and women in Europe. Dietary risks are responsible for around half of the death and disability caused by CVD at an estimated cost of \in 102 billion in the European Union (EU) alone (Chapter 1).

Since the European Heart Network (EHN) published its last paper on *Diet, Physical Activity and Cardiovascular Disease Prevention in Europe* in 2011, there have been many major developments in both the scientific arena and the policy landscape.

A review of the recent scientific developments and an in-depth look at some of the recent media reports of 'controversies' on diet and health show that, generally speaking, the evidence on the links between diet and CVD has strengthened, rather than weakened, in the last few years (Chapter 2). This paper presents a set of population goals, revised to take the new evidence into account (Annex 1); the goals provide clear pointers towards a cardiovascular health-promoting diet for Europe.

Taken together, these population goals should translate to a cardiovascular health-promoting diet that has a low energy density;ⁱ this is important for weight maintenance, and for the prevention of overweight and obesity. A cardiovascular health-promoting diet means a shift from an animal-based diet to a more plant-based diet. It includes vegetables, fruit and berries in abundance. Whole grain products, nuts and seeds, fish, pulses, low-fat dairy products are also important, as are non-tropical vegetable oils in modest amounts. This dietary pattern limits consumption of red meat, processed meat products and foods or drinks which are low in vitamins, minerals and dietary fibre and/or high in free sugars, saturated/trans fats or salt. A diverse and balanced diet covers the need for nutrients, and food supplements are

rarely needed. It now falls to governments to translate these population goals into clear guidance about foods, taking into account the typical diet in the country.

In a perfect world, people would buy and eat different foods to reflect this evidence and advice, and markets would respond to the changes in demand (Chapter 3). In today's complex food systems, however, the 'market' does not function perfectly and there are many other forces – often powerful – driving the food supply in addition to consumer demand. Major economic and policy drivers determine what food is produced, what is imported and how foods are marketed. Many of these global and external factors are well beyond the reach of individual governments, posing real challenges for policymakers. The complex picture also means, however, that there are many different points along the food chain where policymakers can take action to improve diets.

In the six years since EHN's last paper was published, there is more recognition of how important it is for governments to take action to improve the food supply and food environments. While some countries have adopted binding or voluntary measures, a great deal more progress is urgently needed to implement effective food and drink policies for preventing diet-related CVD (Chapter 4).

To that end, three overarching recommendations and three clusters of specific recommendations are proposed (see figure on facing page).

EHN calls for rapid and full implementation of these recommendations in order to realise the vision for every European – irrespective of the place or socio-economic circumstances into which they are born – to be able to live free from avoidable diet-related CVD, and thus be able to have a productive working life and many years of active retirement free from cardiovascular ill-health or disability.

i Energy density is the amount of energy (calories) per gram of food.



EHN recommendations for food and drink policies for cardiovascular health



• Ensure trade and investment policies protect and promote public health



Food demand-side recommendations

- Use taxes and/or subsidies
- Implement regulatory controls on marketing of unhealthy foods
- Adopt a nutrient profile for regulation of claims, mandatory simplified front-of-pack nutrition labelling and menu labelling



Food composition recommendations

- Set legal limits for levels of industrially-produced trans fats
- Establish nutrition standards for food in schools, hospitals and other public institutions
- Implement wide-reaching ambitious food reformulation programmes

Introduction

Despite dramatic progress in tackling premature deaths from heart disease and stroke in recent decades, cardiovascular disease (CVD) remains a leading cause of death and ill-health in Europe. Unhealthy diets, overweight and obesity are major contributors to heart disease and stroke – accounting for around half of the burden of deaths and disability due to CVD.

The good news is that most CVD can be prevented and dietary risk factors are avoidable. Policies and actions to reduce exposure to dietary risk factors can, and do, work. Cardiovascular death rates dropped, for example, after legal limits on the amount of trans fats in foods were introduced in Denmark. Government-led salt reduction campaigns have been followed by reductions in average salt intakes and in blood pressure levels. The case for investing in prevention is compelling.

In the years since the European Heart Network (EHN) published *Diet, Physical Activity and Cardiovascular Disease Prevention in Europe* in 2011, there has been greater global recognition of the urgency of tackling non-communicable diseases (NCDs) and of improving diets. There is better understanding of the need for government action to improve the food supply and food environments, as well as to inform and educate about healthy diets. Political and public acceptance of government measures – such as taxes on sugary drinks or restrictions on the advertising of unhealthy foods to children – appears to have grown.

Nonetheless, much more progress is necessary. If current trends continue, many European countries will miss agreed global targets to halt the rise in obesity or diabetes, reduce salt intakes, increase breastfeeding or reduce physical inactivity by 2025. One in three 11 year olds in the European region is overweight. Breastfeeding rates are among the lowest in the world. Ten years on from the introduction of the first 'ban' on trans fats in Denmark – and despite clear evidence of real health gains – very few countries have introduced similar laws, and the European Commission is only now considering an EU-wide measure. Few Europeans see clear

colour-coded nutrition information on the front of food packs, more than a quarter of a century after health and consumer advocates first called for such labels. Voluntary action by food manufacturers to lower salt levels in foods tends to be under-ambitious and there is little progress on reducing fats and sugar in foods. Millions of European children continue to be exposed to advertising for unhealthyⁱⁱ foods through television (despite widespread introduction of voluntary restrictions), online marketing and social media. While many countries have introduced some standards for school food, too many children are still able to access unhealthy meals and snacks at school. Similarly, hospitals often continue to serve or sell foods that can contribute to ill health.

Moreover, European countries and institutions are also being challenged by broader issues, such as how to ensure that healthy diets are also sustainable, or how to protect and promote them when trade agreements are in place.

EHN believes that every European has a right to a life free from avoidable CVD, including a productive working life *and* many years of healthy, active retirement. The specific vision for this paper is:

Every European – irrespective of the place or socio-economic circumstances into which they are born – has a right to a life free from avoidable diet-related cardiovascular disease.

The purpose of this paper, therefore, is to:

- Define a cardiovascular health-promoting diet, in the current European context, and set out specific population goals to help achieve that diet;
- Identify key areas for policy action to enable and support adoption of a cardiovascular health-promoting diet and, ultimately, achieve the vision outlined above.

This paper is a summary of a detailed report and the fulllength version is available from <u>http://www.ehnheart.org/</u> <u>publications-and-papers/publications.html</u>

ii 'Unhealthy' relates to foods high in fat, sugars or salt, also referred to as HFSS foods.

Diet and cardiovascular disease – why action is needed 1

Key Messages

- Despite recent progress, CVD remains the leading cause of death for men and women in Europeⁱⁱⁱ and a leading cause of illness and disability. It accounts for 45% of all deaths and 23% of the years lost to death or disability across the region.
- More than 85 million people across Europe live with CVD and, in the EU alone, almost 49 million people live with CVD. In addition to the human loss and suffering, this burden brings devastating social and economic costs – costing the EU economy €210 billion a year in healthcare, lost productivity and informal care costs.
- Across Europe retirement ages are rising, but in many countries average healthy life expectancy how long people can • expect to live without any disability - is lower than these new or proposed statutory retirement ages.
- Dietary risks are a major contributor to CVD, responsible for 56% of all the years lost to disability or death from CVD in the European region. In the EU, dietary risks are responsible for 49% of the CVD burden^{iv}, at an estimated annual cost of €102 billion.
- The burden of death and disability due to CVD is very unevenly spread, both between and within countries in the European region.

A leading cause of premature 1.1 death in Europe

Despite considerable progress in tackling CVD, it remains the leading cause of death for men and women in Europe^v and a leading cause of illness and disability. Every year, CVD accounts for 3.9 million deaths (45% of all deaths) in the European region, of which 1.8 million deaths (37%) are in the EU. The two most common forms of CVD - heart disease and stroke - are, respectively, the most common and second most common causes of death in both the European region and the EU.

This extraordinary burden is not, as some might say, an inevitable result of Europeans living longer than ever before. CVD is a leading cause of death in people who have yet to reach, or have recently reached, retirement age. For men, CVD is the main cause of death before the age of 65 in Europe, responsible for 31% of deaths. In women under 65, CVD is the second largest cause of death and accounts for 26% of all deaths.

Over the past 30 years, death rates from CVD have been declining in most northern and western European countries in both men and women. The trends in central and eastern countries have been less consistent, but CVD death rates have been falling since around 2000-2005.

1.1.1 A huge burden of illness and disability

For the 85 million people who live with CVD in Europe, this means living with illness for a long time. Popular belief is often that heart attack and stroke result in quick and painless deaths, but CVD is a major cause of years lived with disability.

In 2015, 64.7 million years were lost to death or disability^{vi} from CVD across Europe, 23% of the total (Figure 1). In the EU, CVD accounted for 26 million years (19%) of the years lost (Figure 2).

1.1.1.1The economic cost of cardiovascular disease

In addition to the human loss and suffering, there are also devastating social and economic costs. Overall, CVD is estimated to cost the EU economy almost €210 billion per year – of this, just over half (€111 billion) is due to direct health care costs, over a quarter (€54 billion) to productivity losses and the remainder (€45 billion) to the informal care of people with CVD (Table 1).

iii Unless otherwise stated, all figures and graphics are from the following source: Wilkins E, Wilson L, Wickramasinghe K, Bhatnagar P, Leal J, Luengo-Fernandez R, Burns R, Rayner M, Townsend N (2017). European Cardiovascular Disease Statistics 2017, http://www.ehnheart.org/cvd-statistics/cvd-statistics-2017.html. European Heart Network, Brussels

iν Data from the Global Burden of Disease database (2015) https://vizhub.healthdata.org/gbd-compare/

This report covers the European region, as defined by the World Health Organization. References to the European region or Europe, therefore, refer to the 53 v countries in the wider European region. Where possible, figures are given for both the European region and the European Union.

vi

Transforming European food and drink policies for cardiovascular health





Figure 2 Disability-adjusted life years lost by cause, 2015, European Union



Table 1 Total cost of CVD, heart disease and stroke, 2015, European Union

	CVD		Heart disease		Stroke	
	€ billions	% of total	€ billions	% of total	€ billions	% of total
Direct healthcare costs	€110.9	53%	€18.9	32%	€20.1	44%
Productivity loss due to mortality	€31.6	15%	€13.8	23%	€5.4	12%
Productivity loss due to morbidity	€22.6	11%	€6.0	10%	€4.0	9%
Informal care costs	€45.1	21%	€20.6	35%	€15.9	35%
TOTAL	€210.2		€59.3		€45.4	

Note: The total CVD column includes heart disease and stroke as well as other forms of CVD.



1.1.1.2 Social implications of cardiovascular disease

The true social implications of the CVD burden reach beyond the human and economic costs. In order to pay for the pensions and care needs of Europe's ageing populations, many governments are raising retirement ages, yet many people already have some disability at these new or proposed retirement ages. In many European countries average healthy life expectancy – how long people can expect to live without any disability – is less than 70 years and for some countries it is less than 60 years (Figure 3). Yet, the average retirement age was 65.5 for OECD countries in 2015 and in many countries this will increase to 67 or 68 years in the next 10 years.¹ Furthermore, given the health inequalities between richer and poorer people throughout Europe (see Chapter 1.1.2), these average figures probably hide an even worse picture in poorer groups.





Notes:

- Average retirement age for OECD countries in 2014 was 64 years for men and 63 for women (see solid lines). Retirement ages for people entering the labour market at 20 are rising to 67 or older for both men and women (dotted lines).²
- Healthy life expectancy and years in ill health data from: EUROSTAT, 2015, and retirement ages from OECD.
- Due to no data being available for Switzerland in 2015, data from 2014 has been used.

1.1.2 Inequalities across the European region

Across Europe, both between and within countries, wealthier people live longer, healthier lives than poorer Europeans. This is seen with CVD where the burden of death and disability is very unevenly spread (Figures 4 and 5). There is a difference of at least 11 years between the lowest and highest average life expectancies in countries across the region³ and the situation in Central and Eastern Europe is particularly worrying.

Figure 4 Age-standardised death rates from heart disease, men, latest available year, European region



Figure 5 Age-standardised death rates from stroke women, latest available year, European region





1.2 Dietary contribution to the burden of cardiovascular disease in Europe

Poor diet is a leading contributor to ill-health/disease and early death. Dietary risks^{vii} account for over half of deaths in men and over 40% of deaths in women in both the European region and the EU. When ill-health is also included, dietary risk factors are the greatest contributor to the burden of death and disability, both in Europe as a whole and in the EU.

Of all the risk factors related to behaviour that contribute to CVD, dietary factors are by far the largest. Dietary risks are responsible for 56% and 49% of all the years lost to cardiovascular death or disability (men and women combined) in the European region and EU respectively.^{viii}

1.3 Clear case for investing in prevention

Cardiovascular disease is to a large extent preventable and, given the suffering it causes and the social and economic burden that it presents, the potential gains for society are enormous.

In the EU, CVD is estimated to cost €210 billion.⁴ Dietary factors account for 49% of the burden of CVD in the EU. The total economic cost of the burden of diet-related CVD is, therefore, estimated to be 49% of the total yearly costs of CVD in the EU, equivalent to €102 billion.

Reducing dietary risks, therefore, offers great potential to reduce the ${\in}102$ billion in annual costs to the EU of diet-related CVD.

A population-based approach – which aims to reduce the whole population's exposure to risk factors rather than only targeting people who are at particularly high-risk – offers the greatest promise.⁵ Most interventions to improve diets are good value for money and some actually result in net cost savings.^{6,7} The economic costs of implementing, for example, taxes on unhealthy foods⁷ or measures to reduce salt levels in processed foods⁶ are outweighed by the resulting economic benefits. It pays in both health and economic terms to take preventive measures.

vii The cluster of dietary risks defined by the Global Burden of Disease study includes: high sodium; low fruit; low whole grains; low vegetables; low nuts and seeds; high processed meat; low fibre; low omega-3; low polyunsaturated fatty acids; high trans fat; suboptimal calcium; low milk; high red meat and high sweetened beverages.

viii Data from the Global Burden of Disease database (2015) https://vizhub.healthdata.org/gbd-compare/

2 Food, drink and cardiovascular disease: the science

Key messages

- The scientific evidence base for recommending a cardiovascular health-promoting diet has generally strengthened in the last six years.
- A cardiovascular health-promoting diet means a shift from an animal-based diet to a more plant-based diet. It includes
 vegetables, fruit and berries in abundance. Whole grain products, nuts and seeds, fish, pulses, low-fat dairy products
 are also important, as are non-tropical vegetable oils in modest amounts. This everyday dietary pattern also limits
 consumption of red meat, processed meat products and foods or drinks with low content of vitamins, minerals and
 dietary fibre and/or a high content of free sugars, saturated/trans fats or salt.
- Apparent controversies about dietary recommendations often stem from a limited understanding, or misrepresentation, of the science or methodological issues. Careful unpicking of two apparent controversies relating to salt and saturated fat reveals that there is still robust evidence for the messages to limit salt consumption and to replace saturated fat with unsaturated fats or fibre-rich complex carbohydrates.
- There is growing evidence about the importance of nutrition early in life before and during pregnancy, infancy and early childhood on later health outcomes.

2.1 Summary of latest science on foods, nutrients and cardiovascular disease

EHN proposed a series of population goals on foods and nutrients in its 2011 paper, *Diet, Physical Activity and Cardiovascular Disease Prevention in Europe.* For this paper, EHN's Nutrition Expert Group, supported by special advisers, reviewed the previous population goals on the basis of major evidence that has emerged in the last few years.

In general, the scientific evidence base for recommending a cardiovascular health-promoting diet has strengthened in the last six years. Table 2 summarises EHN's proposed revised intermediate and long-term population goals for foods, BMI, nutrients and other components. See Annex 1 for more detail and explanation.

FOODS AND OTHER RELATED GOALS				
Fruit and vegetables	 Intermediate: More than 400 g per day Long-term: More than 600 g per day 			
Sugar-sweetened drinks	 Intermediate: Decrease as much as possible Long-term: Virtually zero 			
Body mass index (BMI)	 Intermediate: Average BMI of less than 23 for adults Long-term: Average BMI of 21 for adults 			
NUTRIENTS AND OTHER	COMPONENTS			
Saturated fat	 Intermediate goal: Less than 10% of calories for the general population and less than 7% of calories for a population at a high risk for heart disease; should be less than one-third of total fat Long-term goal: 7% of calories, and less than one-third of total fat Replaced with unsaturated fats, particularly polyunsaturated fats, and fibre-rich complex carbohydrates 			
Trans fats	 Not more than 0.5% of calories from trans fats, of which 0% should be from industrially- produced trans fats 			
Total fat	About 25% of calories			
Total carbohydrate	 Intermediate: More than 55% of calories Long-term: Up to 65% of calories 			
Free sugars	 Intermediate: Less than 10% of calories Long-term: Not more than 5% of calories 			
Fibre	At least 12.6 g dietary fibre per 1000 kcal (3 g per MJ energy)			
Salt	Less than 5 g of salt (2 g of sodium) per day			

Table 2 Summary of revised population goals



These goals represent a recommended average intake or level for the population as a whole; they are not dietary guidelines for individuals. Their main purpose is to help policymakers to identify the gaps between actual and recommended diets, inform the setting of policy priorities and enable progress to be monitored. The goals take into account that many Europeans are overweight or obese, physically inactive, and/ or eat too many calories.

The choice of foods with which to replace particular foods or nutrients is also important, and dietary guidelines and policy options need to take this into account.

Controversies about dietary advice and the science of diet and health

Apparent controversies about dietary recommendations are often due to a limited understanding, or misrepresentation, of the science of associations between diet and health outcomes.

The strongest evidence comes from systematic reviews of well-conducted randomised controlled trials (RCTs), in which the direct effects of replacing one dietary component with another have been assessed. Other types of studies – these can include non-randomised RCTs, cohort studies, case-control studies and crosssectional studies – are (in descending order) weaker and involve less direct evidence.

Studies that compare health outcomes between groups of people with different diets (observational studies) can only suggest an association, and not a causal relationship. Such studies cannot take into account the genetic differences between people, which affect how their bodies respond to dietary factors. Nonetheless, these studies are important for creating hypotheses that can then be tested with further research.

Another problematic area relates to the many challenges in measuring food intakes and diets. Finally, it can be difficult for long-term studies to assess the role of diet when, more generally, populations are getting healthier or at lower risk (e.g. if fewer people are smoking or more people are using cholesterol- or blood pressure-lowering drugs) or less healthy (e.g. much lower levels of physical activity).

Diet and health topics continue to make the news regularly and some nutrition 'controversies' have hit the headlines in recent years. EHN commissioned expert reviews on three issues that have been particularly subject to media attention. This included careful unpicking of two apparent controversies – on salt and saturated fat – and an update on the evidence relating to sugars and sugary drinks. The in-depth reviews on each of these issues are included in the full-length version of this paper and are also available for download separately from <u>http://www.ehnheart.org/ publications-and-papers/publications.html</u>. The following sections are adapted from those reviews.

2.1.1 Sugars and sugar-sweetened drinks

Dietary sugars are defined as glycaemic carbohydrates and consist of all mono- and disaccharides. The main dietary sugars are glucose and fructose (both monosaccharides) and sucrose and lactose (both disaccharides). Sucrose consists of fructose and glucose, and lactose is made up of glucose and galactose. In this paper the term 'total sugars' is used for all mono- and disaccharides combined. Sugars can occur naturally in foods or can be added.

The goals in this paper reflect the World Health Organization's use of the term 'free sugars' rather than 'added sugars'.⁸ Free sugars include monosaccharides and disaccharides added to foods and drinks by the manufacturer, cook or consumer *and* sugars naturally present in honey, syrups, fruit juices and fruit juice concentrates. Sugary drinks (often referred to as sugar-sweetened beverages) contain added caloric sweeteners, such as sucrose (mainly cane or beet sugar) or high-fructose corn syrup (HFCS).

Potential association between consumption of sugars and CVD risk

Over the past six years a lot of new information has become available on the potential association between consumption of sugars and the risk of CVD and its risk factors, especially on the possible contribution of sugary drinks.⁹⁻⁵⁵ There has also been publication of new dietary recommendations in many European countries^{9,56-59} and the United States.⁶⁰ In addition, WHO published a guideline for sugar intake in 2015 and the American Heart Association published a scientific statement about consumption of sugars in children and adolescents in 2016.⁶¹

The health effects of sugars appear to be most evident when sugars are consumed in excess, i.e. when accompanied by weight gain. However, there may also be some effects that are not related to weight gain. Evidence suggests that the increased risk is mainly associated with fructose-containing sugars – in other words, fructose, sucrose (cane or beet sugar) and HFCS. There has been less research, however, on the role of sugars that do not contain fructose.

Although study results are not always consistent, most studies suggest that there is a relationship between sugars intake and risk of CVD, and that the more sugars consumed the greater the risk. It is possible, however, that other aspects of a Western diet may affect results, even though studies are generally designed to control for such factors. Wellcontrolled studies on the effects of reducing the intake of sugars on cardiovascular risk are relatively scarce. Our review found that evidence is strongest, first, for the benefits of reducing sugary drink consumption on child overweight and, second, for some lowering of blood pressure. Limiting the consumption of free or added sugars, and especially sugary drinks, is likely to have positive effects on body weight, although the effect will be moderate. Our review concludes, therefore, that limiting free sugars consumption may have a beneficial, although small, impact on cardiovascular health of populations.

Because there is a straight linear relationship between intakes and apparent effects, the recommendation should be to limit free sugars consumption as much as possible in order to obtain the largest benefits. Major contributors to free sugars consumption are sugary drinks (including fruit juices and dairy products with added sugars), sweets, candies, cakes and cookies. Limiting consumption of these products as much as possible should be recommended, especially in people struggling to maintain a healthy weight. EHN recommends that, as an intermediate goal, free sugars should provide less than 10% of total calories (energy) and that in the longer term the goal should be for sugars to provide not more than 5% of calories (Annex 1, Table II). Consumption of sugar-sweetened drinks should be limited as much as possible in the interim, with a view to a longterm goal of virtually no consumption (Annex 1, Table I). Both goals are particularly important in people struggling to maintain a healthy weight and are marker goals for an ideal diet for cardiovascular health.

2.1.2 Dietary fat and cardiovascular disease

Recently, there has been some debate about the role of dietary fat – both the total amount of fat and the type of fat – in the prevention and treatment of diseases, especially heart disease. Some major studies that pooled results of many similar studies (meta-analyses) have confirmed that decreasing the intake of saturated fats is of benefit,⁶² whereas some controversial meta-analyses show no benefit with regard to the prevention of heart disease.⁶³ These controversies have attracted a lot of media attention and the credibility of current dietary recommendations has even been questioned in some journals.

Total fat intakes – the amount of fat and energy density

The evidence suggests that total fat intake is not directly associated with the risk of heart disease. Our review considered the impact of total fat on obesity and diabetes through its role on body weight.

It concluded that data on the linear relationship between fat intake and tendency to gain weight⁶⁴ suggest that a fat intake of 25% (accompanied by a diet that derives at least 60% of its calories from fibre-rich carbohydrates and includes over 400 g/day of vegetables and fruit) is advisable. Such a diet should reduce the risk of weight gain and diabetes, and, therefore, the risk of heart disease in the long term. This should also reduce the energy density^{ix} of the diet, and this is important for people who have been obese and have to maintain their reduced weight in the long term.^{65,66}

EHN proposes, therefore, a population goal of about 25% of calories from total fat as a marker goal for an ideal cardiovascular health-promoting diet (Annex 1, Table II).

Quality of fat – intakes of saturated, unsaturated and trans fats

There is convincing evidence that replacing saturated fat in the diet with unsaturated fat, especially polyunsaturated fats, and complex carbohydrates decreases the concentrations of both total and harmful LDL-cholesterol in blood and, thus, the risk of heart disease.^{17,62,67–75} Replacing saturated fats with simple carbohydrates (e.g. sugars) has unfavourable effects.^{17,76}

Based on experimental trials and many observational studies, a high intake of trans fats has a negative impact on lipids in the blood and the risk of heart disease.^{77–82}

To reduce harmful levels of cholesterol, and thus the risk of heart disease, dietary recommendations are to limit intakes of saturated fats, by replacing with unsaturated fats, and minimise intakes of trans fats (partly through eliminating industrially-produced trans fats).^{57,83,84} Our expert review supports these recommendations, which should be incorporated as part of a healthy diet that includes fibre–rich carbohydrates.

EHN proposes an interim population goal for less than 10% of calories from saturated fat for the general population, and less than 7% of calories for people at high risk of heart disease. In the longer term, the goal should be for 7% of calories from saturated fat. Saturated fats should be replaced with unsaturated fats, particularly polyunsaturated fats, and fibre-rich complex carbohydrates and should constitute less than a third of the total fat intake. In addition, trans fats should not provide more than 0.5% of calories and, of this, 0% should be from industrially-produced trans fats (Annex 1, Table II).

2.1.3 Salt – update on evidence on population salt reduction

Since 2011, when EHN's previous paper was published, there have been numerous research and policy publications on salt (sodium chloride)^x intake and health.⁸⁵⁻¹⁴⁴ In addition, WHO has issued a new global guideline that sodium intakes should be less than 5 g of salt (2 g of sodium) per day.¹⁴⁵ Despite the high degree of general scientific consensus, dissenting voices from industry and from some members of the scientific community have created a 'controversy'. The main criticisms are: a) a low salt intake may not lower blood pressure in everyone; b) a lower salt intake, as suggested by guidelines, may cause harm by increasing cardiovascular mortality; c) there is not sufficient evidence to justify current policies.

An updated review of the scientific literature revealed the following key points:

• Salt is causally related to blood pressure: the higher the salt intake, the higher the blood pressure and this is an effect which can be seen from birth.⁸⁹

ix Energy density is the amount of energy (calories) per gram of food.

x In this document salt (NaCl sodium chloride) and sodium are used to refer to sodium intake. Please note the following conversion: 2.5 g (2,500mg) of salt = 1.0 (1 000mg) of sodium.



- A sustained reduction in salt intake (up to 50% of current intakes) causes a fall in blood pressure in almost everyone across the whole range of blood pressure.^{90,91,146–150,92} Some individuals will respond more or less, depending on factors such as age, ethnicity, initial levels of blood pressure and body weight.^{151,152,153–155}
- High blood pressure contributes to strokes and heart attacks, and reducing blood pressure is associated with a drop in incidence of stroke and heart attacks – a bigger fall in blood pressure leads to a bigger effect.^{91,142,156,157}
- It is logical to consider, therefore, that reducing salt intakes will, by reducing blood pressure, lead to a fall in the incidence of strokes and some reduction in heart attacks.
- Natural experiments in different countries, direct experiments in primates, migration studies in humans, results from most prospective cohort studies in human populations and some randomised clinical trials support this concept.^{142,156,158}

Specific methodology issues in studies on salt and $\ensuremath{\mathsf{CVD}}$

In addition to the general methodological challenges for assessing associations between diet and health (See Box on Controversies about dietary advice and the science of diet and health, page 17), there are some specific challenges for assessing salt consumption and health outcomes.⁹³ Salt intakes are difficult to measure because levels in food vary greatly and different amounts of salt can be added at the table or in cooking. The gold standard for measuring salt intakes is to collect an individual's urine over a 24-hour period and analyse it for sodium (excreted from the body). Ideally, this process should be repeated four times and any incomplete urine collections should be excluded.¹²² This method is, however, relatively expensive and cumbersome. Many studies, therefore, are based on only one or two 24hour collections or on overnight or one-off 'spot' urine collections. Other studies may use a single dietary record or one-day food record to estimate salt consumed in foods. The risks of errors – which could give completely different results - are higher in all these cases.

Another issue is when studies are conducted on groups of patients who are already sick or on populations that include people with existing CVD. There is a lower risk of error if the sample is recruited from the general population and people with pre-existing CVD are excluded.

A more detailed description of all the methodological issues and a critique of the individual studies are available in the full-length paper or the separate salt paper available for download from <u>http://www.ehnheart.org/publications-and-papers/publications.html</u>

At the root of the apparent controversy about salt, some studies observing differences between populations have suggested that lower salt intake might be associated with an *increased* risk of CVD events.^{94,107,112,114,115,124,159,160} These studies, however, tended to suffer from measurement errors that lead to biased results and, therefore, erroneous conclusions.^{93,120,121}

Our expert review concluded that well-conducted prospective studies – with enough samples/measurements to be able to generate reliable statistics (referred to as sufficient statistical power), accurate measurements of sodium excretion and exclusion from the study of people who are already unwell – support a clear relationship between salt intake and deaths from CVD as well as overall death rates (all cause mortality).

EHN proposes a population goal of less than 5 g of salt (2 g of sodium) per day (Annex 1, Table II).

2.2 What do EHN proposed population goals mean for food and drink patterns?

It is extremely important that national policymakers translate nutrition goals into dietary guidelines based on foods (rather than nutrients), taking into account eating habits and food systems in the country.

Taken together, EHN's proposed goals represent a cardiovascular health-promoting dietary pattern for present day Europe. In summary, the energy density^{xi} of such a diet for the current European population – which predominantly has low levels of physical activity - should be low, which is important for weight maintenance, and for prevention of overweight and obesity. A cardiovascular health-promoting diet means a shift from an animal-based diet to a more plant-based diet. It includes vegetables, fruit and berries in abundance. Whole grain products, nuts and seeds, fish, pulses as well as low-fat dairy products are also important, as are non-tropical vegetable oils in modest amounts. This everyday dietary pattern limits consumption of red meat, processed meat products, and foods or drinks with low content of vitamins, minerals and dietary fibre and/or a high content of free sugars, saturated/trans fats or salt. A cardiovascular health-promoting diet will include plentiful dietary fibre. Good alternatives to sugar-containing drinks are water and green or black tea.

There is emerging evidence on the importance of correctly distributing food intake throughout the day – by eating a generous breakfast and lunch and a light dinner – but there is not enough data to justify making any specific recommendation. A diverse and balanced diet covers the needs for nutrients – food supplements are, therefore, rarely needed.

xi Energy density is the amount of energy (calories) per gram of food.

Healthy dietary patterns

It is important to remember that foods and drinks are not consumed in isolation and the overall diet is, therefore, important. The different aspects of the diet relate to one another in a variety of ways and there could potentially be synergies and cumulative effects.

A few specific dietary patterns have been the subject of scientific investigation. The most well-known, and most frequently researched, is the Mediterranean diet, which is made up of high intakes of fruits, vegetables, pulses, wholegrain products, fish and unsaturated fatty acids (especially olive oil) and low consumption of (red) meat, dairy products and saturated fats. Research suggests that the Mediterranean diet is associated with less CVD, lower overall death rates, reduced cardiovascular deaths and reduced cardiovascular risk.^{161,162}

Other dietary patterns associated with cardiovascular health include the Dietary Approaches to Stop Hypertension (DASH) dietary pattern and the Healthy Nordic Diet. The DASH diet is high in vegetables, fruits, low-fat dairy products, whole grains, poultry, fish, beans and nuts and is low in fats, sweets, sugar-sweetened drinks and red meat. It is low in saturated fats and salt, and rich in potassium, calcium, magnesium, fibre and protein. Trials have found that the DASH diet can lower cardiovascular risk factors, such as blood pressure and harmful cholesterol levels, thus lowering CVD risk.^{163–165}

The Healthy Nordic Diet emphasises food items typical for the food culture in the Nordic countries. It includes natural fibre-rich foods such as vegetables (e.g. dark-green leaves, fresh peas and beans, cabbage, onions, root vegetables, and fruiting vegetables such as peppers, tomatoes or aubergines), pulses, fruits, berries, nuts, seeds and whole grains as well as fish and seafood, rapeseed oil, vegetable oil-based fat spreads, and fat-free or low-fat dairy products.⁵⁷ Intervention studies suggest that changing to the Healthy Nordic Diet is associated with cardiovascular benefits.⁵⁷

The US Dietary Guidelines for Americans 2015–2020 recommended a diet which includes a variety of vegetables from all the sub-groups (including pulses), fruits (especially whole fruits), grains (at least half of which are whole-grains), fat-free or low-fat dairy, a variety of protein foods (including seafood, lean meats, poultry, eggs, pulses), nuts, seeds, soy products and oils. This diet limits saturated and trans fats, added sugars and sodium.⁶⁰

2.2.1 Other dietary components and cardiovascular disease

There are a number of dietary components for which EHN does not propose a specific population goal.

2.2.1.1 Dietary cholesterol

There is some public confusion about cholesterol in foods (dietary cholesterol), as opposed to blood cholesterol levels, which in previous decades was a focus for dietary advice.

There is no need to include a specific recommendation for the population as a whole. This is because, first, the size of the effect of saturated fat is much greater than that of dietary cholesterol and, second, foods high in dietary cholesterol also tend to be high in saturated fats. Thus, diets lower in saturated fats will also be lower in dietary cholesterol. There are some foods – including egg yolks and some shellfish – that are higher in dietary cholesterol but not saturated fats. Eggs do contribute micronutrients to the diet, but they also have a negative impact on blood cholesterol;¹⁶⁶ therefore current average consumption of eggs and other foods rich in dietary cholesterol should not rise. It should also be noted that there are wide variations in how individuals respond to dietary cholesterol.

2.2.1.2 Red and processed meat

Media and public interest in the health effects of eating meat has surged, particularly after WHO's International Agency for Research in Cancer (IARC) classified red meat as *probably carcinogenic* and processed meat as *carcinogenic* in 2015.¹⁶⁷ Some European authorities have also recently recommended reducing intakes of red and processed meat.^{57,168–171}

Specifically in relation to CVD, meat is an important source of saturated fat and high intakes of saturated fat increase the risk of CVD. Much of the meat consumed in Europe is in the form of processed meat products (bacon, ham, sausages, ready meals, etc.) and this can lead to high salt intakes. Research suggests that the effects of red meat on the risk of heart disease vary depending on how much processed meat is consumed¹⁷², and that eating processed meat and, to a lesser extent, unprocessed red meat is associated with higher risk of stroke.¹⁷³ Research has also found that meat intakes are associated with higher overall death rates.¹⁷⁴

It seems likely, therefore, that the negative consequences of eating large amounts of meat in European countries outweigh the benefits. If meat products are eaten regularly, products that are lower in saturated fat and salt, e.g. lean, fresh meat rather than processed meat, are preferable for cardiovascular health. Furthermore, it is advisable to eat less red and processed meats and replace these (particularly in people who eat a lot of meat) with white and unprocessed meat products. It is also important to consider the impact of meat consumption on the health of the planet (See Chapter 3).



2.2.1.3 Nutrition in early life

There is growing evidence that nutrition during early life – before conception and during pregnancy, infancy and early childhood – impacts on later health outcomes, including cardiovascular risk factors.

If a woman has poor nutritional status before or during pregnancy it can change the way genes are expressed in the child (epigenetic programming) and how these genes respond to environmental factors later in life. If a woman is undernourished, her child has a higher risk of overweight or obesity if they later have access to plentiful food.¹⁷⁵ Maternal obesity - before or after conception - is associated with health problems for women and for their children; for the latter this means higher risk of obesity and other disorders later in life.¹⁷⁵ High-fat diet and excess energy intake during pregnancy may increase the child's risk of CVD, whether or not the mother is obese.¹⁷⁵ In addition a child's taste preferences can be affected by its mother's diet during pregnancy^{176,177} and a more varied diet during pregnancy or breastfeeding can increase children's acceptance of new foods or flavours.178

Good infant and young child nutrition^{xii} is important for the prevention of CVD (through protection against risk factors such as overweight, obesity and diabetes) later in life.^{179,180}

xii WHO recommends early initiation of breastfeeding (within the first hour of birth), on-demand exclusive breastfeeding from birth until six months of age followed by timely introduction of appropriate complementary feeding and continued breastfeeding up to two years of age or beyond.

3 Sustainable food systems for cardiovascular health

Key points

- Today's food systems are intricate with long food chains that involve many different actors and powerful external factors influence what is produced, how it is sold and at what price (the 'food environment').
- This complexity presents both challenges and opportunities for policymakers. While many of the external drivers are beyond the control of national or regional authorities, there are many entry points along the food chain where policymakers can take action.
- The EU's Common Agricultural Policy (CAP) has helped shape current dietary patterns, and radical rethinking of the CAP could enable positive dietary changes.
- Trade and investment agreements can impact on the food environment and there is a need to take nutrition into account in trade negotiations.
- Current approaches to restricting marketing of unhealthy foods^{xiii} to children are inadequate, particularly given the shift towards online marketing, and decisive policy action is needed.
- Food system activities have considerable environmental impact, including on climate change, land use and water use. Climate change is likely to have a negative impact on diet-related health overall.
- There is considerable overlap between consuming healthier diets and achieving higher levels of sustainability, and an integrated health and environment approach to food systems is needed.
- Health-environment win-wins need to be promoted through dietary guidelines and broader policy approaches are also required.

In a perfect world, the goals outlined in this paper would be swiftly translated by governments into clear dietary guidelines, and then people would change their food choices to reflect the latest advice. This would increase demand for healthy products while demand for less healthy products would drop; markets would respond to these demand signals by producing more healthy and fewer unhealthy food products. Such changes in production would then lead to a drop in prices for healthier foods, while unhealthy foods would become more expensive.

In reality, however, the reasons why we eat what we eat are many and complex. In today's intricate food systems the market does not work perfectly and there are various forces driving the food supply, as well as consumer demand. The distance between production and consumption - the food chain - has been growing. Food chains that traditionally were short – bringing fresh foods from farms to tables – are now long, and involve many different actors, and often provide ultra-processed foods. In practice, the actions of large agrifood companies and, to a lesser extent, government policies and public sector investment have an important role in driving what is produced. Many factors on the supply side of the market - what is produced, how it is sold, and at what price – are powerful drivers of consumption. These aspects of the food system have an impact on the food environment, which, with individual food preferences, impacts on consumer decisions about what to eat. Figure 6 shows one way of illustrating the complexity of food systems and how they impact on diets.

This complexity presents significant challenges for policymakers. Many of the global and external drivers are well beyond the control of particular authorities, let alone individuals. Education and information campaigns alone will be unable to bring about the needed dietary changes.

What this complex picture also reveals, however, is that there are many points along the food chain where policymakers could take action to enable and encourage healthy, sustainable diets (Figure 7).

It is increasingly recognised that current food systems are flawed and fail to deliver affordable healthy diets to all. Food systems need to be transformed and governments have promised to take such action, particularly through the *European Food and Nutrition Action Plan*¹⁸³, the *Rome Declaration on Nutrition*¹⁸⁴ and the *UN Decade of Action on Nutrition*.¹⁸⁵ These aspects are also on the EU agenda.^{xiv,xv}

Tools are available to help policymakers and advocates assess gaps in food systems and identify appropriate opportunities for action.^{186,181} (See full-length paper at <u>http://www.ehnheart.org/publications-and-papers/publications.html</u>).

EHN commissioned expert reviews on four specific issues that are particularly relevant to the challenges of creating sustainable European food systems for cardiovascular health:

xiii 'Unhealthy' relates to foods high in fat, sugars or salt, also referred to as HFSS foods.

xiv See https://ec.europa.eu/jrc/en/publication/eur-scientific-and-technical-research-reports/delivering-eu-food-safety-and-nutrition-2050-future-challenges-and-policy-preparedness

xv See https://ec.europa.eu/health/sites/health/files/nutrition_physical_activity/docs/ev_20170531_co02_en.pdf



Figure 6 Links between diet quality and food systems. Reproduced with kind permission from: Global Panel on Agriculture and Food Systems for Nutrition (2016).¹⁸¹



Agricultural production subsystem: primary production of foods and related inputs, including production of arable crops, horticulture, animals and fish. Food storage, transport and trade subsystem: system in which food is handled, treated, stored, packed, moved, transported and traded. Food transformation subsystem: foods are transformed into final products (including marketing). Food retail and provisioning subsystem: Moves products into the hand of the consumer (markets, informal retail, street vendors, supermarkets and small stores).

Figure 7 Opportunities to improve nutrition and diets along the food value chain Reproduced with kind permission from: Fanzo et al, 2017.¹⁸²



- Agriculture and supply side issues what are we producing in Europe?
- **Trade** impact of trade and investment agreements on food and nutrition
- Food promotion as a driver of consumption patterns
- Food-environment links matching cardiovascular health promotion with a sustainable food system

These reviews are included in the full-length version of this paper and are available to download separately from <u>http://</u>www.ehnheart.org/publications-and-papers/publications. <u>html</u>. Short summaries are included below.

3.1 Agriculture and supply side issues: what are we producing/importing?

A cornerstone of the then European Economic Community (EEC), the Common Agricultural Policy (CAP) was established to ensure food security and revitalise rural economies.¹⁸⁷ This followed a period immediately after the Second World War when there were widespread food shortages, as well as devastating poverty, poor housing and unemployment in Europe. The approach of fostering agriculture and food production had a specific bias towards boosting the supply of cheaper meat, milk, butter, fats and oils.

Throughout its lifetime, the CAP has been heavily criticised, mainly because of its significant financial cost relating to the farming industry and – since the mid-1980s – concern about its potential public health impact.^{188,189} Broadly speaking, the CAP can define which products are produced and promoted, with big retailers also having a major influence over which products finally reach consumers and at what price.¹⁹⁰ The web of the CAP's effects on dietary intake and development of CVD or other NCDs is not straightforward, as shown in Figure 8.

The current CAP is the outcome of a long historical process and various policy responses to different emerging problems, but focused mainly on markets. Despite all the reforms, CAP is still disconnected from nutrition and public health policies and often runs counter to other EU policies that deal with competition¹⁹¹ and consumer protection.¹⁹² CAP will distribute more than €150 billion across the EU countries between 2017 and 2020 to support the production of mostly livestock and industrial crops. This is clearly contrary to demands for a sustainable planet and public health.

A radical change in food consumption and production in Europe is essential if we are going to conform with the new global development agenda,¹⁹³ and meet Sustainable Development Goal 2 to end hunger, achieve food security and improved nutrition and promote sustainable agriculture.

CAP undoubtedly has shaped the current food environment and diets, both within and outside the EU. However, simply eliminating or completely removing CAP is not likely to solve all the problems faced by farmers, consumers and countries when it comes to nutrition. A collective effort from all stakeholders is needed, along with strong systems to check compliance with other policies.

In conclusion, the CAP and other policies have a strong role in creating an environment conducive to positive dietary changes, which, in turn, promote cardiovascular health. There is a need to thoroughly assess the nutrition and health benefits of substantially reforming or abolishing the CAP, compared to the current – or a minimally modified – CAP. A radical rethink of the CAP could contribute greatly, for example, to the promotion of foods such as fruit and vegetables, known to protect against CVD and other NCDs. To get the most benefit from changes to the CAP, any changes should be accompanied by other relevant public health policies and food industry and retailers' policies.

3.2 Impact of trade and investment agreements on food and nutrition

Food represents a significant component of trade and Gross Domestic Product (GDP), and is, therefore, an economic as well as a health issue. The food supply chain in the EU, for example, generates around 15% of total EU employment and 7% of the EU's GDP.¹⁹⁴ This means that new regional trade and investment agreements, such as the Trans-Atlantic Trade and Investment Partnership (TTIP – currently suspended), can have substantial implications for the food environment.¹⁹⁵

Trade and investment agreements impact upon the food and nutrition environment relevant to CVD in two ways:

- 1. by directly influencing the **relative price and availability** of unhealthy foods; and
- 2. by restricting governments' abilities to implement strong public health nutrition policies (constraining the policy space).

First, trade and investment agreements affect the relative price and availability of unhealthy foods through reducing the costs and barriers to the supply, marketing and retail of highly processed foods.^{196,197} This can result in increased availability and affordability of such foods.

Second, trade and investment agreements affect the 'policy space' available to governments through constraining government policymaking on national issues. Policy space refers to the 'freedom, scope, and mechanisms that governments have to choose, design, and implement public policies to fulfil their aims'.¹⁹⁸ There is evidence that trade and investment agreements can constrain policy space for public health nutrition in three ways: direct constraints on available policy options; increasing the ways in which other stakeholders (e.g. industry) can influence policymaking; and new avenues for affected stakeholders to challenge policy decisions.

Trade and investment agreements can directly constrain the policy options available to governments. Although such agreements allow governments to implement policies to protect public health, they also require any such policies



Figure 8 Links between agricultural policies, diet and

non-communicable diseases (Adapted with kind permission from: Hawkes, 2007¹⁸⁹)



to be the 'least trade restrictive' option. Such requirements undermine the precautionary principle, which is important for protecting public health,¹⁹⁹ and may hold policymakers back from taking innovative action.²⁰⁰⁻²⁰²

Trade and investment agreements also contain provisions that involve more stakeholders in government policymaking, and create new avenues for the food industry, for example, to participate in policy processes.^{200,202}

Finally, trade and investment agreements contain provisions to protect investors. Many recent agreements include a mechanism to resolve disputes between investors and countries.²⁰³ This means industry actors can directly sue governments for compensation in certain situations where they consider they have been unduly affected by government action.²⁰⁴ Mechanisms such as the Investor State Dispute Settlement (ISDS) could, for example, allow the food industry to contest government action that reduces the profitability (e.g. sales) of unhealthy foods.^{200,201,205}

There is need for research on targeted assessments of the impact on health of trade policy – ideally as part of trade negotiations – and for policy analyses to look at how nutrition can be taken into account in trade/investment policymaking.^{201,202} This requires advocacy for transparent processes and strong health arguments to counter industry lobbying.^{200,201,206} Strong regional and global support for nutrition action – in the form, for example, of a global treaty or convention to protect healthy diets – can also provide a counterbalance to trade commitments.²⁰⁷

3.3 Food promotion as a driver of consumption patterns

Food environments across Europe exploit individuals' biological, psychological, social, and economic vulnerabilities, making them more likely to consume unhealthy foods²⁰⁸ and impacting on cardiovascular health. Commercial food promotion is one environmental characteristic driving consumption of foods high in fat, sugar or salt (HFSS).

Food marketing practices contribute heavily to the current food environment, which tends to cause obesity (obesogenic), in Europe. Children are particularly targeted by food marketers²⁰⁹ due to their independent spending power (current and future) and sizable influence over family spending.²¹⁰⁻²¹³ Food promotions seek to influence children's diets and taste preferences, whilst also building early brand loyalty which often lasts into adulthood.²¹⁴ Moreover, marketing that seems to be aimed at more mature populations is highly likely to also appeal to younger children²¹⁵ who follow the trends of older peers.

Exposure to advertising of unhealthy food has been shown to increase children's consumption of such foods.^{216–218} For adults, there is much less research and conclusions from studies that have been published are mixed.²¹⁹ This could be because many of the adult studies were primarily conducted in laboratories (rather than the 'real life' or 'real-life-like' settings in which children were tested) or because the adults altered their behaviour during the studies. There is evidence that, in real life, price promotions and retail displays increase purchases of high sugar foods.²²⁰⁻²²²

Promotion now takes place in both traditional broadcast and digital media. People are exposed to an excess of unhealthy food commercial promotion in most traditional platforms (e.g. television, events sponsorship, outdoor advertising, print media, point-of-sale) and, increasingly, via digital avenues (social media, websites). Television advertising produces strong brand awareness²²³ and remains relevant, even for children and adolescents,²²⁴ despite the emergence of digital marketing. Digital food promotion, however, now has the greatest promotional reach and impact – more generally, online advertising has now overtaken television to become the largest advertising medium in Europe.

Critically, digital marketing is often targeted mainly at children and adolescents, because they are so engaged with online media. New media marketing varies from traditional forms in several ways,²²⁵ and advertisers are better able to target and personalise marketing messages and facilitate peer endorsement of food and drink brands.²²⁶ Sophisticated methods unique to online marketing include contextual

advertising (tailoring food adverts to viewers' internet content) and online behavioural advertising (tailoring food adverts to users' individualised characters and online activity).²²⁷

Pressure from health advocates culminated in WHO issuing a *Set of recommendations on the marketing of foods and non-alcoholic beverages to children*²²⁸ and a framework to guide their implementation.²²⁹ Some European countries have introduced restrictions on unhealthy food promotion to children (e.g. UK and Ireland). Voluntary measures or industry self-regulation, however, are most common, even though these have been criticised for being narrow in scope and ineffective.²³⁰

So, it seems clear that current approaches are not doing enough to tackle commercial food promotion across the whole range of promotional techniques, including digital marketing. The balance of evidence currently sits too far in the direction of television, rather than digital, food advertising effects. While more research is warranted on the impact of digital marketing, there is already enough evidence of the combined impact of various forms of food marketing to justify decisive policy action to protect consumers from the ubiquitous marketing of unhealthy foods.



3.4 Food-environment links

 matching cardiovascular health promotion with a sustainable food system

Global environmental change is both a driver and an outcome of food systems (Figure 9).

3.4.1 Impact of food systems on the environment

Food system activities, and particularly agriculture, have considerable impact on various aspects of the environment, including climate change, land use, water use and others.

Food-based greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions contribute 19–29% of emissions globally, with agriculture responsible for the majority.²³² Given current global trends, this may increase by around 80% to 2050,²³³ making the already very challenging target of net zero GHG emissions by 2100 – as set out in the Paris Climate Change Agreement – even more difficult.

Trends globally are towards higher levels of meat and animal product consumption.^{233–235} Relative to plant-based foods, animal-based foods tend to have higher GHG emissions; this is because it is generally more resource efficient to eat plants than to have to feed plants to animals and then eat the animals.^{233,236} On the whole, animal-based foods also have higher water footprints than plant-based foods.^{237,238}

The impact of high water use depends on how scarce water is locally. Environmental impacts and other food system outcomes from animal rearing also depend on how animals are raised, and the local economic role of livestock. This suggests that *to a degree* the overall sustainability impact of animal-based foods varies from one place to another and depends on specific farming practices.

It is important that what we eat, particularly in Europe, becomes part of the debate around how to achieve our climate commitments.

Figure 9 Food systems, their drivers and feedbacks Reproduced with kind permission from: Ericksen, 2008.231



Note: GEC=Global environmental change; GHG=greenhouse gas.

3.4.2 Impact of predicted environmental changes on diet and diet-related health

The impact of future environmental change on diets is extremely complex to predict, and will be strongly affected by future population, economic, trade and cultural change.^{239–241} ²⁴²

Beyond studies looking at changes to energy intake (calories) with climate change, there is very little research linking a changing climate to dietary impacts and even less examining how other aspects of environmental change might influence future diets.

However, modelling studies suggest that climate change will have negative implications for diet-related health overall, due to reductions in calorie intake for poorer populations and reductions in fruit and vegetable intakes for wealthier people.^{243,244}

3.4.3 Identification of ideal dietary patterns that are both healthy and sustainable

Encouragingly, there is considerable overlap between consuming healthier diets and achieving higher levels of sustainability, as defined by GHG emissions, land-use and water use.^{233,245,246,247}

Clear guidance is needed, though, on how to meet nutritional demands while achieving better sustainability outcomes; there is the potential for poorer sustainability outcomes when some dietary changes are made.^{248,249}

There is a lack of research on healthier, low-meat diets and wider indicators of environmental sustainability, such as biodiversity, nitrogen and phosphorous use, impact on bees, etc. There is also little research on what a low-meat and healthy diet means for socio-economic aspects, such as equity or impact on livelihoods.

3.4.4 Existing proposed policy solutions to health-environment issues

A few pioneering governments (e.g. Australia, Brazil, Germany, the Netherlands, the Nordic countries and, separately, Sweden) have issued healthy diet guidelines which include, to different degrees, environmental outcomes. But examples of policy solutions that bridge the health and environment impacts of food are still few and far between, and there is too much focus on passive information-based approaches to shift food behaviour.

Many different types of action will be needed to shift diets towards healthier and more sustainable outcomes, involving people, institutions, regions, economies and global politicaleconomic regimes. Health-environment win-wins need to be promoted both through dietary guidelines, by many more countries than those currently doing so, and through broader policy approaches, which go beyond influencing individual choice.



Effective policies for promoting 4 healthy dietary patterns

Key messages

- Recent years have seen significant global commitments on diet and nutrition, reflecting greater awareness of the need to tackle diet-related NCDs.
- Progress on policy to improve European diets, however, has been patchy and inadequate over the last six years.
- Within the EU, the lack of progress on nutrient profiles (for regulating use of health and nutrition claims) and food marketing to children is disappointing. There have been some promising initiatives at EU-level in relation to trans fats, reformulation and healthy procurement of food served in schools.
- Some European countries have made progress - on food taxes, reformulation, trans fats, labelling, food in schools and marketing to children - but much more government-led action is needed.
- Food and drink policy actions need to be underpinned by broader, structural change to tackle health inequalities if a heart-healthy Europe for all is ever to become a reality.
- EHN recommends rapid and full implementation of a package of measures to realise the vision of every European being able to live free from avoidable diet-related cardiovascular disease (CVD).

Given the burden of CVD, the gaps between the population goals set out in this paper and the current diets of Europeans, all governments in Europe should be taking action to improve diets for cardiovascular health.

4.1 Recent developments on food and drink policies for cardiovascular health

Significant new global commitments on healthy diet and nutrition show that governments are taking their responsibilities to tackle NCDs and malnutrition in all its forms (including obesity, overweight and diet-related NCDs) more seriously.

In Europe, there have been some welcome developments on the proposals in EHN's 2011. Diet. Physical Activity and Cardiovascular Disease Prevention in Europe (See Table 3. for more detail see Chapter 4.1 of the full-length version). Progress, however, remains patchy and inadequate.

Key global developments on nutrition and diet-related NCDs

At the EU level, progress on diet-related policy matters has been much slower than hoped for. There has been a disappointing lack of progress on nutrient profiles (for regulating use of health and nutrition claims) and marketing of unhealthy^{xvi} foods to children. There have been some promising initiatives in relation to trans fats, reformulation and healthy procurement of food served in schools.

For the European region, WHO has adopted a health policy framework²⁵⁰, the Vienna Declaration on nutrition and NCDs²⁵¹, a regional food and nutrition action plan¹⁸³ and two consecutive action plans on prevention and control of NCDs.^{252,253}

Some European countries have implemented their own initiatives, specifically in relation to food taxes, reformulation, trans fats, labelling, food in schools and marketing to children (Table 3). Much more widespread implementation of concrete, government-led action in these areas is needed.

2011	Political Declaration on the Prevention and Control of Noncommunicable Diseases
2011	WHO Global Action Plan for the Prevention and Control of Noncommunicable Diseases, 2013–2020
2014	The Rome Declaration on Nutrition and its Framework for Action, adopted at the Second International Conference
	on Nutrition, address all forms of malnutrition including overweight, obesity and diet-related NCDs
2015	The UN announces a UN Decade of Action on Nutrition, 2016–2025
2015	Adoption of 17 global Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs), accompanied by 169 specific targets including many
	related to diet and health
2016	Final report of the Commission on Ending Childhood Obesity
2017	World Health Assembly endorses an updated Appendix 3 – effectively the 'best buys' for NCD prevention – to the
	global NCD action plan

^{&#}x27;Unhealthy' relates to foods high in fat, sugars or salt, also referred to as HFSS foods.

Table 3 Summary of some recent developments in key policy areas in Europe



Marketing to children	Food in public institutions	Food taxation
European Region, 2015: Publication of a WHO regional nutrient profile model specifically for restricting HFSS food marketing to children. In 2016, a tool for monitoring food marketing to children was published.	EU, 2017: Report on <i>Public Procurement</i> of <i>Food for Health,</i> published under Malta's EU Presidency, to help MS to translate school nutrition standards into food procurement specifications for caterers.	EU: A 2014 Commission paper found evidence that taxes reduce consumption of taxed products and found little evidence that they have an impact on profitability.
EU, 2014: The Council called on the Commission and MS to promote actions to reduce children's exposure to HFSS food marketing.	Legislation or codes to improve nutritional quality of food provided in schools and/or pre-schools introduced or updated in:	Denmark: Evidence has mounted that the saturated tax fat, repealed in 2012, had brought about a decrease of 10–15% in fat consumption.
EU: Proposal to amend the <i>Audiovisual</i> <i>Media Services Directive</i> was adopted in 2016. EHN has repeated its call for a watershed for all marketing for HFSS food on television between 6am and 11pm.	 Bulgaria Hungary Latvia Lithuania Netherlands Poland Slovenia 	France, 2012: Introduced taxes on sugar- sweetened and artificially-sweetened drinks. Hungary, 2011: The Public Health Product Tax has led to an estimated 20–35% decrease in consumption of taxed products.
Ireland, 2013: Prohibited advertising of HFSS foods during children's TV and radio programmes and also limited HFSS food advertising to 25% of all advertising.	SwedenEnglandWales	Taxes on soft drinks have been introduced or proposed in:
Norway, 2013: Government supervised voluntary restrictions introduced across a wide range of media.	Latvia: Limits introduced for salt in food served in hospitals and social care facilities.	 Estonia Belgium Ireland Portugal Spain
Netherlands, 2015: Code updated to include nutritional criteria for 7–12 year old children.	criteria for university catering to qualify for government subsidies were updated.	• UK Finland, 2010: introduced a tax
Poland and Spain: Regulated advertising in schools and pre-schools.		on ice cream and soft drinks, but, following challenge from the European Commission, later abolished it.
UK, 2017: Existing rules extended to cover digital and online marketing and to cover brand advertising that has the effect of promoting a HFSS product.		

4.2 Recommendations for food and drink policies for cardiovascular health

In order to realise the vision of every European being able to live free from avoidable diet-related CVD, EHN calls for rapid and full implementation of a comprehensive package of recommendations. The package is underpinned by three **overarching recommendations**. It also includes three clusters of **specific recommendations** relating to policies to influence what food is supplied, to impact on consumer demand for foods and to alter the composition of foods (Figure 10).

These recommendations, identified by EHN's Expert Group on Nutrition after an assessment of the different types of evidence available (Table 4), do not cover all the possible areas for action. They were selected because of their potential to make meaningful changes to the diet of the population (or a substantial proportion of the population) and to reduce health inequalities; they are supported by EHN members.

For a cardiovascular health-promoting diet to become a reality across Europe some major forces that influence food systems need to be addressed. For this reason, the specific recommendations need to be underpinned by three overarching recommendations:

- Implement policies to tackle health inequalities in Europe
- Ensure that robust mechanisms for nutrition governance are in place and fit-for-purpose
- Develop an integrated health and environment approach to food systems and promote health-environment winwins in food-based dietary guidelines

Figure 10 EHN's package of recommendations for food and nutrition policies for cardiovascular health

<text><text><text><text><section-header>

Food demand-side recommendations

- Use taxes and/or subsidies
- Implement regulatory controls on marketing of unhealthy foods
- Adopt a nutrient profile for regulation of claims, mandatory simplified front-of-pack nutrition labelling and menu labelling



Food composition recommendations

- Set legal limits for levels of industrially-produced trans fats
- Establish nutrition standards for food in schools, hospitals and other public institutions
- Implement wide-reaching ambitious food reformulation programmes

4.2.1 Implement policies to tackle health inequalities in Europe

Progress in improving cardiovascular health across Europe has not benefited Europe's disadvantaged populations to the same degree as more privileged population groups. There are still alarming differences in cardiovascular health between the continent's wealthiest and poorest groups. Given this backdrop, food and drink policy actions need to be underpinned by broader, structural change to tackle health inequalities if a heart-healthy Europe for all is ever to become a reality.

In its hugely influential global report in 2008, the WHO Commission on Social Determinants of Health recommended action to: improve daily living conditions; tackle the inequitable distribution of power, money and resources; and measure and understand the problem and assess the impact of action.²⁵⁴ Policies to narrow the gap across the whole of society and action to address the specific needs of particularly vulnerable groups are both needed.

In addition, more specific action is also needed to improve the availability and affordability of healthy diets:

- Tackle food poverty and make healthy foods more affordable
- Improve the accessibility of healthy foods and address the problem of 'food deserts' where access to fresh foods and healthy options is limited
- Reduce the relative accessibility and affordability of unhealthy foods
- Apply an 'inequalities lens' to all policy initiatives, to ensure that they are designed to narrow, rather than widen, the gap

The application of an 'inequalities lens' to potential interventions should assess the potential impact on different groups as fully as possible, including the health impact. This is important to stress because if impact assessments do not take health outcomes into account they could point to misleading results. Taxes on soft drinks, for example, may have a bigger *financial* impact on poorer people, but the *health* gains are also potentially greater for disadvantaged groups.²⁵⁵⁻²⁵⁷

4.2.2 Ensure that robust mechanisms for nutrition governance are in place and fit-for-purpose

Robust nutrition governance – including high-level political commitment and cross-government, multisectoral coordination mechanisms – is essential to implement policies to improve diets. Action is needed across many sectors of government and society. None of the recommended actions are the sole responsibility of health ministries – finance, trade, education, justice, media and industry ministries are all implicated, as are local authorities.

To underpin policy action that is based on evidence, and to be able to report on progress, a strong infrastructure for research and surveillance – such as tools to collect data on food intakes and up-to-date data on the nutrient content of foods – is also important.

In order to hold governments to account on their progress towards improving diets, monitoring and surveillance are important. As part of the UN Decade of Action on Nutrition¹⁸⁵, WHO and FAO are supporting countries to set country-specific SMART – specific, measurable, achievable, relevant and time-bound – commitments to track their progress in improving nutrition. EHN urges European countries to set SMART commitments, appropriate to their national context, for implementing all of the specific recommendations presented here.

4.2.3 Develop an integrated health and environment approach to food systems and promote health-environment winwins in food-based dietary guidelines

Global environmental change is both a driver and an outcome of food systems and associated health outcomes. There is potentially considerable overlap between diets becoming both healthier and more sustainable, in terms of GHG emissions, land-use, water use and other aspects (see Chapter 3).

To be able to achieve the needed changes to food systems, further research and analysis will be required to better understand how health and environment aspects interact and what needs to be done to shift towards sustainable healthy diets. In the shorter term, governments should promote the health-environment changes that we already know are 'win-wins' in national food-based dietary guidelines.

4.2.4 EHN's recommendations – three clusters of specific recommendations

Three clusters of specific recommendations are proposed and there is a clear evidence base for these proposals (see Table 4). It is important to understand that much of the evidence on the relationships between diet and cardiovascular outcomes and on the effectiveness of preventive action is indirect rather than direct. Policymakers should recognise that it is not always necessary or desirable to wait for irrefutable conclusive evidence before deciding to implement an action. In other fields – such as economics – major policy decisions are taken on the basis of logical thinking about the processes involved and theoretical modelling of potential scenarios. So in order to take action sooner rather than later, policymakers need to scrutinise the best possible evidence available and use this as the basis for judgements, taken on the basis of clearly set out criteria and principles (See Annex 3 in the fulllength paper for further explanation).

EHN calls for the rapid and full implementation of this package of recommendations in order to realise the vision of every European – irrespective of the place or socio-economic circumstances into which they are born – being able to live free from avoidable diet-related CVD, and thus able to have a productive working life and many years of active retirement free from cardiovascular ill-health or disability.

Table 4 EHN recommendations: Evidence base for three clusters of specific recommendations

	EHN KEY SPECIFIC RECOMMENDATIONS	Target groups within the population	Evidence ^{xvii}
JPPLY-SIDE CLUSTER	Global food convention to establish global regulatory framework to protect healthy diets.	Everyone	Current regulatory arrangements are clearly inadequate. There is a strong case for a global convention to set a framework for national regulation, ensure that healthy diets are protected across borders and counteract trade agreements.
	Reform agriculture and food policy to align with public health policies and promote sustainable food production (including by radically reforming the CAP, measures to encourage shorter supply chains and improve the food supply through rural development and conservation).	Everyone	Modelling studies and natural experiments clearly demonstrate that design of agricultural policy (e.g. the CAP) has potential to change population food intakes. A systematic review of studies on agricultural policies that directly affect or could potentially direct food prices (in US, Netherlands and Egypt) found that such policies had an effect on weight and risk of diet-related NCDs. ²⁵⁸
FOOD S	Ensure that trade and investment policies protect and promote public health.	Everyone	Evidence exists to demonstrate that trade and investment policies can impact on the food supply/environment and nutrition value of the food chain and can restrict 'policy space' for governments to take regulatory action.
COMPOSITION RELATED CLUSTER	Mandatory maximum levels of industrially-produced trans fatty acids (IPTFAs)	All consumers of affected products.	International experience shows that national 'bans' virtually remove IPTFAs from the food supply. ^{262,} National and local laws limiting trans fats have been followed, respectively, by a drop in death rates ²⁶³ and hospitalisations. ²⁶⁴ Saturated fat in products did not generally increase as trans fats decreased. Local 'bans' have removed trans fats from food outlets. ²⁶² Some voluntary self-regulation has also reduced trans fat intakes. ^{262,265}
	Establish nutrition standards for food served or sold in schools, hospitals and other public institutions and issue guidelines for healthy public procurement.	People who eat in public institutions (childcare, schools, other educational establishments, hospitals, prisons, government offices and other publicly- funded facilities).	International evidence, mainly from schools, showing that healthy procurement can improve diet and health outcomes. ²⁶⁶⁻²⁶⁸ More specifically, there is evidence that school regulation – particularly restricting unhealthy foods – and procurement policies are effective. ²⁶⁹
FOOL	Wide-ranging, ambitious food reformulation programmes to reduce levels of salt, saturated fat, free sugars, energy density and portion size in processed foods.	All consumers of affected products – programmes should first target foods that are widely consumed and make the biggest contribution to diet.	Strong and extensive evidence that salt reformulation programmes can lead to lower salt levels in foods and lower sodium intake. ²⁷² This experience should be transferable to other ingredients/ nutrients. Research suggests that a mandatory approach is best. ²⁷³

xvii See Annex 2 of the full-length version of this paper for more detail on the different types of evidence available for each recommendation.

xviii This is not an exhaustive list of all policy implementation examples.



Examples of implementation ^{xviii}	Who to do what
Global regulatory frameworks exist for infant formula (International Code of Marketing of Breast-milk Substitutes) and tobacco (Framework Convention on Tobacco Control).	 WHO, FAO, Codex, other UN bodies and their member states to negotiate a global convention. National governments to advocate for a global convention. Civil society to advocate for a global convention.
Brazil's <i>Fome Zero</i> (Zero Hunger) strategy included a Food Acquisition Programme. This requires public institutions to spend 30% of federal school feeding budgets on food from family farmers, creating new markets for local farmers, especially those selling fruit and vegetables. Changes to agricultural subsidies in eastern European countries in the early 1990s changed the relative price of animal fats and vegetable oils, resulting in health benefits. ²⁵⁹	 EU to review and consider radical reform of the CAP, encourage shorter supply chains and improve the food supply through rural development and conservation. Non-EU countries to reform agricultural policy, encourage shorter supply chains and improve the food supply through rural development and conservation. Policymakers in public health and in agriculture/food/ environment policy to collaborate on developing effective policies for a sustainable healthy food supply.
There are rare examples of nutrition being taken into account in trade discussions. In Samoa, involvement of a nutritionist in the country's discussions on accession to the World Trade Organization (WTO) enabled a development of a strategy to mitigate potentially negative consequences for nutrition. ²⁰⁴ There are also examples of countries, sometimes from countries not bound by WTO rules, (some Pacific Island states, Ghana, Mauritius and Iran) using trade policy instruments to try to reduce imports of particular high fat or high sugar products or to improve their quality. ^{260,261}	 EU and governments of non-EU member states to mandate targeted health impact assessments as part of trade and investment policy processes, to ensure coherence between nutrition and trade policy making. EU and governments of non-EU member states negotiating trade deals to appoint a nutrition focal point to provide advice during trade policy negotiations. Civil society to advocate for consideration of nutrition and health objectives in trade and investment policies.
Austria, Denmark, Hungary, Latvia, Iceland, Norway and Switzerland have mandated the removal of IPTFAs in products. Lithuania has notified the European Commission that it intends to legislate.	 EU to implement EU-wide legislation. National governments in EU member states to legislate pending EU regulation. Non-EU member states to legislate. Civil society to advocate for effective comprehensive legislation on use of industrially-produced trans fatty acids.
In 2008, New York City introduced mandatory nutrition standards for all food purchased or served in city entities, covering more than 3 000 sites and 260 million meals/snacks a year. ²⁷⁰ Globally, 17 countries have banned vending machines in schools; Wales has standards for vending machines in hospitals/ health facilities. Bulgaria, Estonia, Finland, France, Hungary, Latvia, Lithuania, Poland, Romania, Sweden and the UK have mandatory nutrition standards for school food. A technical report, produced as part of Malta's EU Presidency, is available as a tool to support member states in ensuring healthy procurement of food served in schools. ²⁷¹	 EU to support member states in their efforts to introduce healthy procurement. National and/or sub-national governments or local authorities, as appropriate, to introduce mandatory nutrition standards for all public institutions. National and/or sub-national governments to issue guidelines on healthy food procurement. Civil society to advocate for healthier food in public institution.
Voluntary salt reduction programmes in place in Austria, Belgium, Croatia, Czech Republic, France, Greece, Hungary, Ireland, Italy, Norway, Slovenia and Spain. Mandatory limits on salt in some foods have been introduced, for example, in Belgium, Bulgaria, Greece, Hungary, Netherlands and Portugal. Voluntary reformulation programmes in France, Netherlands, Switzerland and the UK include other nutrients/ingredients (e.g. fats, sugars) and/or calories.	 European Commission to produce a more ambitious comprehensive framework. All governments to implement national programmes for reformulation including, where appropriate, mandatory standards. Civil society to advocate for wide-ranging, ambitious reformulation programmes.

	EHN KEY SPECIFIC RECOMMENDATIONS	Target groups within the population	Evidence ^{xvii}
D-SIDE CLOSI EK	Use of taxes and/or subsidies to promote consumption of healthy foods and reduce consumption of unhealthy foods.	Consumers of taxed or subsidised products.	There is convincing evidence from country experience and extensive modelling that fiscal policies can promote healthier diets. ^{274,275} Currently, the evidence is strongest that taxes on sugar- sweetened beverages reduce consumption and raise revenue. ^{255,275–277} There is also evidence on the effectiveness of fruit and vegetable subsidies ²⁷⁴ and of other targeted taxes (e.g. on foods high in saturated fats, trans fats, free sugars and/or salt) on consumption and as a driver of reformulation. ^{274,275,278}
	Regulatory controls to reduce the public health impact of marketing (including advertising and other forms of commercial promotion across all media) of HFSS foods.	Children in the short term; Whole population would benefit from wider restrictions applying to the whole society if introduced.	Convincing research that exposure to HFSS food marketing influences what and how much children eat. ^{218,222,279-281} Measures to restrict marketing <i>can</i> reduce children's exposure, but overall effectiveness depends on what age group, foods, media channels and marketing techniques are covered. ²⁸²⁻²⁸⁵ Mandatory restrictions are more effective than voluntary or self- regulatory approaches. ^{230,286} The evidence base to assess the impact of HFSS marketing on adults is less well developed, but there is recent evidence that price promotions influence adults' food purchasing. ²²²
	Adoption of nutrient profiles in the context of the EU regulation of health and nutrition claims; and of mandatory simplified front-of- pack nutrition labelling and menu labelling	All consumers of pre- packaged foods and those who eat out.	Clear evidence that consumers find front-of-pack labels more noticeable and easier to interpret. ^{287–290} There is also evidence that front-of-pack nutrition labelling drives product reformulation. ^{269,291–293} Some evidence that menu calorie labelling reduces the calorie content of meals selected, ²⁸⁵ but the evidence to date from real- life settings remains mixed. ^{230,286}



Examples of implementation ^{xviii}	Who to do what	
 France, Spain, Estonia, Belgium, Hungary and the UK have all introduced, or announced plans to introduce, taxes on sugar-sweetened beverages. Hungary's public health product tax also applies to other products including confectionery, salted snacks and ice cream. 	 National governments to introduce a tax (equivalent to around 20% of price) on sugar-sweetened beverages. National governments to introduce carefully modelled combination of taxes (e.g. on saturated fat) and/or subsidies (e.g. on fresh fruits and vegetables). EU to respect member states' right to introduce tax/subsidy schemes (as long as they are not discriminatory). Civil society to advocate for implementation of effective taxes and subsidies. 	
 Measures in Norway and Ireland concern children up to the age of 18. Portugal's measures relate to audiences with 20% or more of children, compared to the more common 35% or 50% cut-off. UK rules have been extended to cover digital marketing and brand marketing that, in effect, promotes HFSS foods. In other regions, far-reaching restrictions in Brazil and Chile cover all media (including internet and apps) and a wide range of marketing techniques. Ireland has limited HFSS broadcasting advertising for the whole population (i.e. not specifically targeted at children) to 25% of total advertising time or one in four adverts. 	 EU, through the EU Audiovisual Media Services Directive, to implement a 6am – 11pm watershed, during which HFSS food marketing cannot be shown. All governments to introduce national mandatory restrictions to prevent exposure of children (up to 18) to advertising and other forms of commercial promotion of HFSS foods across all media. Civil society to advocate for effective restrictions on HFSS marketing to children. Public health policymakers and health advocates to develop the evidence base on the impact of HFSS marketing on population intakes (including adults). The European Union and non-EU member states should adopt the WHO European Region Nutrient Profile Model to define HFSS foods. 	
<i>Front-of-pack</i> : The UK government published a recommended front of pack nutrition labelling scheme using green, amber and red 'traffic lights' in 2013. France intends to implement voluntary front-of-pack labelling with the Nutri-Score symbol. A few countries – including some Nordic countries, Finland and Netherlands – use symbols to indicate a healthier option and these are generally thought to be helpful. ^{294,295} <i>Menu labelling</i> : Many states and cities in the US introduced menu-labelling requirements for some types of restaurant chain and vending machines. Other examples include South Korea , Taiwan , Singapore and some territories in Australia .	 WHO to recommend a unified global scheme. European Commission to set nutrient profiles to underpin nutrition and health claims as required by the EC regulation on nutrition and health claims (EC) No 1924/2006); EHN recommends a model which favours the 'best in class' products. EU to adopt mandatory EU-wide simplified front-of-pack nutritional labelling. EHN continues to recommend a scheme which uses traffic light colours to indicate high, medium and low levels of fat, saturated fat, salt and (preferably added) sugar. EHN will follow developments in evidence for the most effective front of pack nutrition labelling scheme. National governments must be able to recommend/endorse meaningful front of pack symbols in their countries in addition to any harmonised EU rules on front of pack nutrition labelling Non-EU member states to legislate for mandatory front-of- pack nutrition labelling. National governments are encouraged to adopt mandatory requirements to provide easy-to-understand information about the nutritional quality of foods served in chains with more than 10 outlets (menu labelling). Civil society to advocate for clear front-of-pack and menu labelling. 	

References

- OECD. Pensions at a Glance 2013: OECD and G20 Indicators. (2013).
- **2.** OECD. Pensions at a glance 2015. OECD and G20 indicators. (2015).
- **3.** World Health Organization Regional Office for European *Health Report 2015.* (2015).
- 4. Wilkins, E. et al. European Cardiovascular Disease Statistics 2017. European Heart Network (2017).
- Rose, G. Strategy of Preventive Medicine. 171 (2008).
 Cobiac, L. J., Veerman, L. & Vos, T. The role of costeffectiveness analysis in developing nutrition policy. *Annu. Rev.*
- Nutr. 33, 373–393 (2013).
 Cecchini, M. *et al.* Tackling of unhealthy diets, physical inactivity, and obesity: health effects and cost-effectiveness. *Lancet (London, England)* 376, 1775–1784
- 8. World Health Organization. *Guideline : Sugars intake for adults and children. World Health Organisation* (2014).
- Hauner, H. *et al.* Evidence-based guideline of the German Nutrition Society: carbohydrate intake and prevention of nutrition-related diseases. *Ann Nutr Metab* 60 Suppl 1, 1–58 (2012).
- Scientific Advisory Committee on Nutrition (SACN). Carbohydrates and Health. (2015).
- Paganini-Hill, A., Kawas, C. H. & Corrada, M. M. Non-alcoholic beverage and caffeine consumption and mortality: the Leisure World Cohort Study. *Prev Med* 44, 305–310 (2007).
- **12.** Tasevska, N. *et al.* Sugars and risk of mortality in the NIH-AARP Diet and Health Study. *Am J Clin Nutr* 99, 1077–1088 (2014).
- Yang, Q. *et al.* Added sugar intake and cardiovascular diseases mortality among US adults. *JAMA Intern Med* 174, 516–524 (2014).
- Sonestedt, E., Overby, N. C., Laaksonen, D. E. & Birgisdottir, B. E. Does high sugar consumption exacerbate cardiometabolic risk factors and increase the risk of type 2 diabetes and cardiovascular disease? *Food Nutr Res* 56, (2012).
- Huang, C., Huang, J., Tian, Y., Yang, X. & Gu, D. Sugar sweetened beverages consumption and risk of coronary heart disease: a meta-analysis of prospective studies. *Atherosclerosis* 234, 11–16 (2014).
- Xi, B. *et al.* Sugar-sweetened beverages and risk of hypertension and CVD: a dose-response meta-analysis. *Br J Nutr* 113, 709–717 (2015).
- Li, Y. *et al.* Saturated Fats Compared With Unsaturated Fats and Sources of Carbohydrates in Relation to Risk of Coronary Heart Disease: Cohort Study. *J Am Coll Cardiol* 66 SRC-G, 1538–1548 (2015).
- Morenga, L., Mallard, S. & Mann, J. Te Dietary sugars and body weight: systematic review and meta-analyses of randomised controlled trials and cohort studies. *BMJ e7492* 346 SRC-, (2013).
- **19.** Jayalath, V. H. *et al.* Sugar-sweetened beverage consumption and incident hypertension: a systematic review and meta-analysis of prospective cohorts. *Am J Clin Nutr* 102, 914–921 (2015).
- Malik, V. S. *et al.* Sugar-sweetened beverages and risk of metabolic syndrome and type 2 diabetes: a meta-analysis. *Diabetes Care* 33, 2477–2483 (2010).
- Keller, A., Heitmann, B. L. & Olsen, N. Sugar-sweetened beverages, vascular risk factors and events: a systematic literature review. *Public Heal. Nutr* 18, 1145–1154 (2015).
- Ha, V. *et al.* Effect of fructose on blood pressure: a systematic review and meta-analysis of controlled feeding trials. *Hypertension* 59, 787–795 (2012).
- **23.** Perez-Pozo, S. E. *et al.* Excessive fructose intake induces the features of metabolic syndrome in healthy adult men: role of uric acid in the hypertensive response. *Int J Obes* 34, 454–461 (2010).

- Teunissen-Beekman, K. F. *et al.* Protein supplementation lowers blood pressure in overweight adults: effect of dietary proteins on blood pressure (PROPRES), a randomized trial. *Am J Clin Nutr* 95, 966–971 (2012).
- Lowndes, J. *et al.* The effect of normally consumed amounts of sucrose or high fructose corn syrup on lipid profiles, body composition and related parameters in overweight/obese subjects. *Nutrients* 6, 1128–1144 (2014).
- Raatz, S. K., Johnson, L. K. & Picklo, M. J. Consumption of Honey, Sucrose, and High-Fructose Corn Syrup Produces Similar Metabolic Effects in Glucose-Tolerant and -Intolerant Individuals. J Nutr 145, 2265–2272 (2015).
- **27.** Lustig, R. H. *et al.* Isocaloric fructose restriction and metabolic improvement in children with obesity and metabolic syndrome. *Obesity* 24, 453–460 (2016).
- Woodward-Lopez, G., Kao, J. & Ritchie, L. To what extent have sweetened beverages contributed to the obesity epidemic? *Public Health Nutr.* 14, 499–509
- Mattes, R. D., Shikany, J. M., Kaiser, K. A. & Allison, D. B. Nutritively sweetened beverage consumption and body weight: a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized experiments. *Obes Rev* 12, 346–365 (2011).
- Malik, V. S., Pan, A., Willett, W. C. & Hu, F. B. Sugar-sweetened beverages and weight gain in children and adults: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Am. J. Clin. Nutr.* 98, 1084–1102
- Kaiser, K. A., Shikany, J. M., Keating, K. D. & Allison, D. B. Will reducing sugar-sweetened beverage consumption reduce obesity? Evidence supporting conjecture is strong, but evidence when testing effect is weak. *Obes. Rev.* 14, 620–633
- **32.** Pereira, M. A. Sugar-sweetened and artificially-sweetened beverages in relation to obesity risk. *Adv Nutr* 5, 797–808 (2014).
- Massougbodji, J., Le Bodo, Y., Fratu, R. & De Wals, P. Reviews examining sugar-sweetened beverages and body weight: correlates of their quality and conclusions. *Am. J. Clin. Nutr.* 99, 1096–1104
- **34.** Keller, A. & Bucher Della Torre, S. Sugar-Sweetened Beverages and Obesity among Children and Adolescents: A Review of Systematic Literature Reviews. *Child. Obes.* 11, 338–346
- Pollock, N. K. *et al.* Greater fructose consumption is associated with cardiometabolic risk markers and visceral adiposity in adolescents. *J. Nutr.* 142, 251–257
- **36.** Lee, A. K. Sugars and adiposity: the long-term effects of consuming added and naturally occurring sugars in foods and in beverages. *Obes. Sci. Pract.* 1, 41–49 (2015).
- Ma, J. *et al.* Sugar-Sweetened Beverage Consumption Is Associated With Change of Visceral Adipose Tissue Over 6 Years of Follow-Up. *Circulation* 133, 370–377 (2016).
- Sievenpiper, J. L. *et al.* Heterogeneous effects of fructose on blood lipids in individuals with type 2 diabetes: systematic review and meta-analysis of experimental trials in humans. *Diabetes Care* 32, 1930–1937
- **39.** Grundy, S. M. *et al.* Definition of metabolic syndrome: report of the National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute/American Heart Association conference on scientific issues related to definition. *Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol.* 24, e13-8
- **40.** Rosset, R., Surowska, A. & Tappy, L. Pathogenesis of Cardiovascular and Metabolic Diseases: Are Fructose-Containing Sugars More Involved Than Other Dietary Calories? Curr Hypertens Rep ; : 44. 18, (2016).
- **41.** Carran, E. L., White, S. J., Reynolds, A. N., Haszard, J. J. & Venn, B. J. Acute effect of fructose intake from sugar-sweetened beverages on plasma uric acid: a randomised controlled trial. *Eur Nutr* 70, 1034–1038 (2016).



- **42.** Bruun, J. M. *et al.* Consumption of sucrose-sweetened soft drinks increases plasma levels of uric acid in overweight and obese subjects: a 6-month randomised controlled trial. *Eur Nutr Damaging Eff. hyperglycemia Cardiovasc. Funct. spotlight glucose Metab. pathways Am Hear. Circ Physiol 3102 H15373* 69, 949–953 (2016).
- Mapanga, R. F. & Essop, M. F. Damaging effects of hyperglycemia on cardiovascular function: spotlight on glucose metabolic pathways. *Am J Physiol Hear. Circ Physiol* 310, H153-73 (2016).
- Mah, E. & Bruno, R. S. Postprandial hyperglycemia on vascular endothelial function: mechanisms and consequences. *Nutr. Res.* 32, 727–740
- **45.** Teunissen-Beekman, K. F. M. *et al.* Dietary proteins improve endothelial function under fasting conditions but not in the postprandial state, with no effects on markers of low-grade inflammation. *Br. J. Nutr.* 114, 1819–1828
- Cirillo, P. *et al.* Fructose induces prothrombotic phenotype in human endothelial cells : A new role for 'added sugar' in cardiometabolic risk. *J. Thromb. Thrombolysis* 40, 444–451
- **47.** Ares, G. R. & Ortiz, P. A. Direct renal effects of a fructoseenriched diet: interaction with high salt intake. *Am Regul Integr Comp Physiol* 309, R1078-81 (2015).
- Qi, Q. *et al.* Sugar-sweetened beverages and genetic risk of obesity. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 367, 1387–1396
- **49.** Olsen, N. J. *et al.* Interactions between genetic variants associated with adiposity traits and soft drinks in relation to longitudinal changes in body weight and waist circumference. *Am. J. Clin. Nutr.* 104, 816–826
- 50. Te Morenga, L. A., Howatson, A. J., Jones, R. M. & Mann, J. Dietary sugars and cardiometabolic risk: systematic review and meta-analyses of randomized controlled trials of the effects on blood pressure and lipids. *Am J Clin Nutr* 100, 65–79 (2014).
- Malik, A. H., Akram, Y., Shetty, S., Malik, S. S. & Yanchou Njike, V. Impact of sugar-sweetened beverages on blood pressure. *Am J Cardiol* 113, 1574–1580 (2014).
- **52.** Greenwood, D. C. *et al.* Association between sugar-sweetened and artificially sweetened soft drinks and type 2 diabetes: systematic review and dose-response meta-analysis of prospective studies. *Br J Nutr* 112, 725–734 (2014).
- **53.** Imamura, F. *et al.* Consumption of sugar sweetened beverages, artificially sweetened beverages, and fruit juice and incidence of type 2 diabetes: systematic review, meta-analysis, and estimation of population attributable fraction. *BMJ* 351, h3576 (2015).
- **54.** Ahmadi-Abhari, S. *et al.* Dietary intake of carbohydrates and risk of type 2 diabetes: the European Prospective Investigation into Cancer-Norfolk study. *Br J Nutr* 111, 342–352 (2014).
- Sievenpiper, J. L., de Souza, R. J. & Mirrahimi, A. Effect of fructose on body weight in controlled feeding trials: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Ann Intern Med* 156, 291–304 (2012).
- **56.** Programme National Nutrition Santé. *La santé vient en mangeant. Le guide alimentaire pour tous.* (2011).
- **57.** Nordic Council of Ministers. *Nordic Nutrition Recommendations* 2012. *Integrating nutrition and physical activity. Nordic Nutrition Recommendations 2012* (2012).
- **58.** Public Health England. *Government recommendations for food, energy and nutrients for males and females aged 1-18 years and 19+ years.* (2016).
- **59.** Voedingscentrum. *Richtlijnen Schijf van Vijf*. (2016).
- U.S. Department of Health and Human Services and U.S. Department of Agriculture. 2015–2020 Dietary Guidelines for Americans. 8th Edition. (2015).
- Vos, M. B. *et al.* Added Sugars and Cardiovascular Disease Risk in Children: A Scientific Statement From the American Heart Association. *Circulation* 136, (2016).
- 62. Hooper, L. *et al.* Effects of total fat intake on body weight. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev* 8 SRC-Go, CD011834.b (2015).
- Siri-Tarino, P. W., Sun, Q., Hu, F. B. & Krauss, R. M. Metaanalysis of prospective cohort studies evaluating the association of saturated fat with cardiovascular disease. *Am. J. Clin. Nutr.* 91, 535–546 (2010).

- **64.** Hooper, L., Martin, N., Abdelhamid, A. & Davey Smith, G. Reduction in saturated fat intake for cardiovascular disease. *Cochrane Database Syst. Rev.* (2015).
- Klem, M., Wing, R., Lang, W., McGuire, M. & Hill, J. Does weight loss maintenance become easier over time? *Obes Res* 8, 438–444 (2000).
- Raynor, H. A. *et al.* Van Dietary energy density and successful weight loss maintenance. *Eat Behav* 12, 119–125 (2011).
- Piepoli, M. F. *et al.* 2016 European Guidelines on cardiovascular disease prevention in clinical practice. *Eur. Heart J.* 28, 2375–414 (2016).
- **68.** Schwab, U. *et al.* Effect of the amount and type of dietary fat on cardiometabolic risk factors and risk of developing type-2 diabetes, cardiovascular disease, and cancer: a systematic review. *Food Nutr Res 25145* 58 SRC-, (2014).
- **69.** Teslovich, T. M. *et al.* Biological, clinical and population relevance of 95 loci for blood lipids. *Nature* 466, 707–713 (2010).
- **70.** Waterworth, D. M. *et al.* Genetic variants influencing circulating lipid levels and risk of coronary artery disease. *Arter. Thromb Vasc Biol* 30, 2264–2276 (2010).
- **71.** Deloukas, P. *et al.* Large-scale association analysis identifies new risk loci for coronary artery disease. *Nat Genet* 45, 25–33 (2013).
- **72.** Joris, P. J. & Mensink, R. P. Role of cis-Monounsaturated Fatty Acids in the Prevention of Coronary Heart Disease. *Curr Atheroscler Rep* 18 SRC-G, (2016).
- 73. Mozaffarian, D., Micha, R. & Wallace, S. Effects on coronary heart disease of increasing polyunsaturated fat in place of saturated fat: a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. *PLoS Med.* 7 SRC-Go, e1000252 (2010).
- Jakobsen, M. U. *et al.* Major types of dietary fats and risk of coronary heart disease: a pooled analysis of 11 cohort studies. *J Am Clin Nutr* 89, 1425–1433 (2009).
- 75. Astrup, A. *et al.* The role of reducing intakes of saturated fat in the prevention of cardiovascular disease: where does the evidence stand in 2010? *Am J Clin Nutr* 93, 684–688 (2011).
- **76.** Jakobsen, M. U. *et al.* Intake of carbohydrates compared with intake of saturated fatty acids and risk of myocardial infarction: importance of the glycemic index. *Am. J. Clin. Nutr.* 91, 1764–1768 (2010).
- 77. Mensink, R. P., Zock, P. L., Kester, A. D. M. & Katan, M. B. Effects of dietary fatty acids and carbohydrates on the ratio of serum total to HDL cholesterol and on serum lipids and apolipoproteins: a meta-analysis of 60 controlled trials. *Am. J. Clin. Nutr.* 77, 1146–1155 (2003).
- **78.** Brouwer, I. A., Wanders, A. J. & Katan, M. B. Effect of animal and industrial trans fatty acids on HDL and LDL cholesterol levels in humans-a quantitative review. *PLoS One* 5, e9434 (2010).
- 79. Gebauer, S. K., Destaillats, F., Dionisi, F., Krauss, R. M. & Baer, D. J. Vaccenic acid and trans fatty acid isomers from partially hydrogenated oil both adversely affect LDL cholesterol: a double-blind, randomized controlled trial. *Am J Clin Nutr* 102 SRC-, 1339–1346 (2015).
- Skeaff, C. M. & Miller, J. Dietary fat and coronary heart disease: summary of evidence from prospective cohort and randomised controlled trials. *Ann Nutr Metab* 55, 173–201 (2009).
- **81.** Imamura, F. *et al.* Novel circulating fatty acid patterns and risk of cardiovascular disease: the Cardiovascular Health Study. *Am J Clin Nutr.* 96 SRC-G, 1252–1261 (2012).
- **82.** Brouwer, I. A. *Effects of trans-fatty acid intake on blood lipids and lipoproteins: a systematic review and meta-regression analysis.* (2016).
- Eckel, R. H. *et al.* AHA/ACC guideline on lifestyle management to reduce cardiovascular risk. A report of the American College of Cardiology / American Heart Association task force on practice guidelines. *Circulation* 129 SRC-, S76-99 (2014).
- 84. Piepoli, M. F. *et al.* European Guidelines on cardiovascular disease prevention in clinical practice (version . The Sixth Joint Task Force of the European Society of Cardiology and Other Societies on Cardiovascular Disease Prevention in Clinical Practice (constituted by represe. *Eur Hear. J* 37 SRC-G, 2315–2381 (2016).

- Hendriksen, M. A. H., van Raaij, J. M. A., Geleijnse, J. M., Breda, J. & Boshuizen, H. C. Health gain by salt reduction in europe: a modelling study. *PLoS One* 10, e0118873 (2015).
- Webb, M. *et al.* Cost effectiveness of a government supported policy strategy to decrease sodium intake: global analysis across 183 nations. *BMJ* 356, i6699 (2017).
- **87.** Powles, J. *et al.* Global, regional and national sodium intakes in 1990 and 2010: a systematic analysis of 24 h urinary sodium excretion and dietary surveys worldwide. *BMJ Open* (2013).
- **88.** Mozaffarian, D. *et al.* Global sodium consumption and death from cardiovascular causes. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 371, 624–634 (2014).
- Cappuccio, F. P. & Capewell, S. Facts, issues and controversies in salt reduction for the prevention of cardiovascular disease. *Funct Food Rev* 7, 41–61 (2015).
- Graudal, N. A., Hubeck-Graudal, T. & Jürgens, G. Effects of low-sodium diet vs. high-sodium diet on blood pressure, renin, aldosterone, catecholamines, cholesterol, and triglyceride (Cochrane Review). *Am. J. Hypertens.* 25, 1–15 (2012).
- He, F. J. & MacGregor, G. A. Effect of modest salt reduction on blood pressure: a meta-analysis of randomized trials. Implications for public health. *J. Hum. Hypertens.* 16, 761–770 (2002).
- Gijsbers, L. *et al.* Effects of sodium and potassium supplementation on blood pressure and arterial stiffness: a fully controlled dietary intervention study. *J. Hum. Hypertens.* 29, 592–598 (2015).
- **93.** Cobb, L. K. *et al.* Methodological issues in cohort studies that relate sodium intake to cardiovascular disease outcomes: a science advisory from the American Heart Association. *Circulation* 129, 1173–1186 (2014).
- **94.** Stolarz-Skrzypek, K. *et al.* Fatal and nonfatal outcomes, incidence of hypertension, and blood pressure changes in relation to urinary sodium excretion. *JAMA* 305, 1777–1785 (2011).
- He, F. J., Appel, L. J., Cappuccio, F. P., de Wardener, H. E. & MacGregor, G. A. Does reducing salt intake increase cardiovascular mortality? *Kidney Int.* 80, 696–698 (2011).
- **96.** Campbell, N. R. C., Cappuccio, F. P. & Tobe, S. W. Unnecessary controversy regarding dietary sodium: a lot about a little. *Can. J. Cardiol.* 27, 404–406 (2011).
- Campbell, N., Correa-Rotter, R., Neal, B. & Cappuccio, F. P. New evidence relating to the health impact of reducing salt intake. *Nutr. Metab. Cardiovasc. Dis.* 21, 617–619 (2011).
- **98.** Labarthe, D. R. & Briss, P. A. Urinary sodium excretion and cardiovascular disease mortality. *JAMA* 306, 1084–5; author reply 1086 (2011).
- **99.** Campbell, N. Validation and comparison of three formulae to estimate sodium and potassium excretion from a single-morning fasting urine compared to 24-h measures in 11 countries. *J. Hypertens.* 32, 2499–2500 (2014).
- 100. Cogswell, M. E. *et al.* Validity of predictive equations for 24-h urinary sodium excretion in adults aged 18-39 y. *Am. J. Clin. Nutr.* 98, 1502–1513 (2013).
- **101.** Wang, C.-Y. *et al.* Urinary excretion of sodium, potassium, and chloride, but not iodine, varies by timing of collection in a 24-hour calibration study. *J. Nutr.* 143, 1276–1282 (2013).
- 102. Ji, C., Miller, M. A., Venezia, A., Strazzullo, P. & Cappuccio, F. P. Comparisons of spot vs 24-h urine samples for estimating population salt intake: validation study in two independent samples of adults in Britain and Italy. *Nutr. Metab. Cardiovasc. Dis.* 24, 140–147 (2014).
- **103.** Mente, A. *et al.* Associations of urinary sodium excretion with cardiovascular events in individuals with and without hypertension: a pooled analysis of data from four studies. *Lancet* 388, 465–475 (2016).
- 104. Peng, Y. *et al.* Validation and Assessment of Three Methods to Estimate 24-h Urinary Sodium Excretion from Spot Urine Samples in Chinese Adults. *PLoS One* 11, e0149655 (2016).
- **105.** Joosten, M. M. *et al.* Sodium excretion and risk of developing coronary heart disease. *Circulation* 129, 1121–1128 (2014).
- Cook, N. R., Appel, L. J. & Whelton, P. K. Lower levels of sodium intake and reduced cardiovascular risk. *Circulation* 129, 981–989 (2014).

- 107. Pfister, R. *et al.* Estimated urinary sodium excretion and risk of heart failure in men and women in the EPIC-Norfolk study. *Eur. J. Heart Fail.* 16, 394–402 (2014).
- 108. Kalogeropoulos, A. P. *et al.* Dietary sodium content, mortality, and risk for cardiovascular events in older adults: the Health, Aging, and Body Composition (Health ABC) Study. *JAMA Intern. Med.* 175, 410–419 (2015).
- 109. Yi, B., Titze, J. & Choukèr, A. Dietary Sodium Intake and Risk of Cardiovascular Disease. *JAMA Intern. Med.* 175, 1578–1579 (2015).
- Liu, Z. & Zhang, X. Dietary Sodium Intake and Risk of Cardiovascular Disease. JAMA Intern. Med. 175, 1579 (2015).
- **111.** Science Media Centre. *Expert reaction to paper on salt intake, mortality and cardiovascular disease.* (2016).
- Lamelas, P. M. *et al.* Association of Urinary Sodium Excretion With Blood Pressure and Cardiovascular Clinical Events in 17,033 Latin Americans. *Am. J. Hypertens.* 29, 796–805 (2016).
- **113.** Cook, N. R., Appel, L. J. & Whelton, P. K. Sodium Intake and All-Cause Mortality Over 20 Years in the Trials of Hypertension Prevention. *J. Am. Coll. Cardiol.* 68, 1609–1617 (2016).
- Ekinci, E. I. *et al.* Dietary salt intake and mortality in patients with type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes Care* 34, 703–709 (2011).
- 115. Thomas, M. C. *et al.* The association between dietary sodium intake, ESRD, and all-cause mortality in patients with type 1 diabetes. *Diabetes Care* 34, 861–866 (2011).
- Saulnier, P.-J., Gand, E., Hadjadj, S. & SURDIAGENE Study Group. Sodium and cardiovascular disease. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 371, 2135–2136 (2014).
- 117. Singer, P., Cohen, H. & Alderman, M. Assessing the associations of sodium intake with long-term all-cause and cardiovascular mortality in a hypertensive cohort. *Am. J. Hypertens.* 28, 335–342 (2015).
- Äijälä, M. *et al.* Dietary sodium intake and prediction of cardiovascular events. *Eur. J. Clin. Nutr.* 69, 1042–1047 (2015).
- 119. Mills, K. T. *et al.* Sodium Excretion and the Risk of Cardiovascular Disease in Patients With Chronic Kidney Disease. *JAMA* 315, 2200–2210 (2016).
- **120.** Cappuccio, F. P. Sodium and cardiovascular disease. *Lancet* 388, 2112 (2016).
- **121.** Cappuccio, F. P. & Campbell, N. R. C. Population Dietary Salt Reduction and the Risk of Cardiovascular Disease: A Commentary on Recent Evidence. *J. Clin. Hypertens.* 19, 4–5 (2017).
- 122. Lerchl, K. *et al.* Agreement between 24-hour salt ingestion and sodium excretion in a controlled environment. *Hypertens.* (*Dallas, Tex. 1979*) 66, 850–857 (2015).
- **123.** Ji, C. *et al.* Systematic review of studies comparing 24-hour and spot urine collections for estimating population salt intake. *Rev. Panam. Salud Publica* 32, 307–315 (2012).
- **124.** Mente, A. *et al.* Validation and comparison of three formulae to estimate sodium and potassium excretion from a single morning fasting urine compared to 24-h measures in 11 countries. *J. Hypertens.* 32, 1005–14; discussion 1015 (2014).
- 125. Bibbins-Domingo, K. *et al.* Projected Effect of Dietary Salt Reductions on Future Cardiovascular Disease. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 362, 590–599 (2010).
- 126. Cobiac, L. J., Vos, T. & Veerman, J. L. Cost-effectiveness of interventions to reduce dietary salt intake. *Heart* 96, 1920–5 (2010).
- 127. Konfino, J., Mekonnen, T. A., Coxson, P. G., Ferrante, D. & Bibbins-Domingo, K. Projected impact of a sodium consumption reduction initiative in Argentina: an analysis from the CVD policy model-Argentina. *PLoS One* 8, e73824 (2013).
- **128.** Beaglehole, R. *et al.* Priority actions for the non-communicable disease crisis. *Lancet* 377, 1438–1447 (2011).
- 129. Collins, M. *et al.* An economic evaluation of salt reduction policies to reduce coronary heart disease in England: a policy modeling study. *Value Heal.* 17, 517–524 (2014).
- Hendriksen, M. A. H. *et al.* Potential effect of salt reduction in processed foods on health. *Am. J. Clin. Nutr.* 99, 446–453 (2014).



- **131.** Rodriguez-Fernandez, R. *et al.* Current salt reduction policies across gradients of inequality-adjusted human development in the WHO European region: minding the gaps. *Public Health Nutr.* 17, 1894–1904 (2014).
- 132. Ji, C., Kandala, N.-B. & Cappuccio, F. P. Spatial variation of salt intake in Britain and association with socioeconomic status. *BMJ Open* 3, (2013).
- 133. Ji, C. & Cappuccio, F. P. Socioeconomic inequality in salt intake in Britain 10 years after a national salt reduction programme. *BMJ Open* 4, e005683 (2014).
- Cappuccio, F. P., Capewell, S., Lincoln, P. & McPherson, K. Policy options to reduce population salt intake. *BMJ* 343, d4995 (2011).
- **135.** Millett, C., Laverty, A. A., Stylianou, N., Bibbins-Domingo, K. & Pape, U. J. Impacts of a national strategy to reduce population salt intake in England: serial cross sectional study. *PLoS One* 7, e29836 (2012).
- 136. Shankar, B., Brambila-Macias, J., Traill, B., Mazzocchi, M. & Capacci, S. An evaluation of the UK Food Standards Agency's salt campaign. *Health Econ.* 22, 243–250 (2013).
- 137. Sutherland, J., Edwards, P., Shankar, B. & Dangour, A. D. Fewer adults add salt at the table after initiation of a national salt campaign in the UK: a repeated cross-sectional analysis. *Br. J. Nutr.* 110, 552–558 (2013).
- **138.** Brinsden, H. C., He, F. J., Jenner, K. H. & Macgregor, G. A. Surveys of the salt content in UK bread: progress made and further reductions possible. *BMJ Open* 3, (2013).
- **139.** He, F. & Pombo-Rodrigues, S Macgregor, G. Salt reduction in England from 2003 to 2011: Its relationship to blood pressure, stroke and ischaemic heart disease mortality. *BMJ Open* 4, (2014).
- 140. O'Flaherty, M., Flores-Mateo, G. & Noaham, K. Potential cardiovascular mortality reductions with stricter food policies in the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland. *Bull World Heal. Organ* 90, 522–531 (2012).
- 141. Kypridemos, C. et al. Estimated reductions in cardiovascular and gastric cancer disease burden through salt policies in England: an IMPACTNCD microsimulation study. BMJ Open 7, e013791 (2017).
- **142.** Aburto, N. J. *et al.* Effect of increased potassium intake on cardiovascular risk factors and disease: systematic review and meta-analyses. *BMJ* 346, f1378 (2013).
- 143. Galletti, F. & Strazzullo, P. The blood pressure-salt sensitivity paradigm: pathophysiologically sound yet of no practical value. *Nephrol. Dial. Transplant.* 31, 1386–1391 (2016).
- **144.** Elijovich, F. *et al.* Salt Sensitivity of Blood Pressure: A Scientific Statement From the American Heart Association. *Hypertension* 68, e7–e46 (2016).
- 145. World Health Organization. Sodium intake for adults and children. Guidel. Potassium Intake Adults Child. 1–46 (2012).
- 146. Grobbee, D. E. & Hofman, A. Does sodium restriction lower blood pressure? Br. Med. J. (Clin. Res. Ed). 293, 27–29 (1986).
- 147. Midgley, J. P., Matthew, A. G., Greenwood, C. M. & Logan, A. G. Effect of reduced dietary sodium on blood pressure: a metaanalysis of randomized controlled trials. *JAMA* 275, 1590–1597 (1996).
- 148. Graudal, N. A., Galløe, A. M. & Garred, P. Effects of sodium restriction on blood pressure, renin, aldosterone, catecholamines, cholesterols, and triglyceride: a meta-analysis. *JAMA* 279, 1383–1391 (1998).
- 149. Geleijnse, J. M., Kok, F. J. & Grobbee, D. E. Blood pressure response to changes in sodium and potassium intake: a metaregression analysis of randomised trials. *J. Hum. Hypertens.* 17, 471–480 (2003).
- **150.** Jurgens, G. & Graudal, N. A. Effects of low sodium diet versus high sodium diet on blood pressure, renin, aldosterone, catecholamines, cholesterols, and triglyceride. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev* 1, CD004022 (2004).
- 151. Luft, F. C. *et al.* Salt sensitivity and resistance of blood pressure. Age and race as factors in physiological responses. *Hypertension* 17, 1102-8 (1991).
- Cappuccio, F. P., Markandu, N. D., Carney, C., Sagnella, G. A. & MacGregor, G. A. Double-blind randomised trial of modest salt restriction in older people. *Lancet (London, England)* 350, 850–854 (1997).

- **153.** Rocchini, A. P. *et al.* Insulin and renal sodium retention in obese adolescents. *Hypertension* 14, 367–374 (1989).
- 154. He, J. *et al.* Dietary sodium intake and subsequent risk of cardiovascular disease in overweight adults. *JAMA* 282, 2027–2034 (1999).
- **155.** Strazzullo, P. *et al.* Altered renal sodium handling in men with abdominal adiposity: a link to hypertension. *J. Hypertens.* 19, 2157–2164 (2001).
- 156. Strazzullo, P., D'Elia, L., Kandala, N.-B. & Cappuccio, F. P. Salt intake, stroke, and cardiovascular disease: meta-analysis of prospective studies. *BMJ* 339, b4567 (2009).
- **157.** Mohan, S. *et al.* Salt and high blood pressure. *Clin. Sci. (Lond).* 117, 1–11 (2009).
- 158. He, F. J. & MacGregor, G. A. Salt reduction lowers cardiovascular risk: meta-analysis of outcome trials. *Lancet* 378, 380–382 (2011).
- 159. O'Donnell, M. et al. Urinary sodium and potassium excretion and risk of cardiovascular events. JAMA 306, 2229–38 (2011).
- 160. O'Donnell, M. J., Mente, A. & Rangarajan, S. Urinary sodium and potassium excretion, mortality, and cardiovascular events. *New Engl J Med* 371, 612–23 (2014).
- 161. Sofi, F., Abbate, R., Gensini, G. F. & Casini, A. Accruing evidence on benefits of adherence to the Mediterranean diet on health : an updated systematic review and meta-analysis 1, 2. *Am. J. Clin. Nutr.* 92, 1189–1196 (2010).
- Estruch, R. *et al.* Primary prevention of cardiovascular disease with a Mediterranean diet. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 368, 1279–90 (2013).
- 163. APPEL, L. *et al.* A Clinical Trial of the Effects of Dietary Patterns on Blood Pressure. *NEJM* 336, 1117–1124 (1997).
- 164. Sacks, F. *et al.* Effects on blood pressure of reduced dietary sodium and the Dietary Approaches to Stop Hypertension (DASH) diet. *N Engl J Med* 344, 3–10 (2001).
- 165. Appel, L. J. *et al.* Effects of protein, monounsaturated fat, and carbohydrate intake on blood pressure and serum lipids: results of the OmniHeart randomized trial. *JAMA* 294, 2455–2464 (2005).
- 166. Weggemans, R. M., Zock, P. L. & Katan, M. B. Dietary cholesterol from eggs increases the ratio of total cholesterol to high-density lipoprotein cholesterol in humans: A meta-analysis. *Am. J. Clin. Nutr.* 73, 885–891 (2001).
- 167. Bouvard, V. et al. Carcinogenicity of consumption of red and processed meat. Lancet Oncol. 16 SRC-G, 1599–1600 (2015).
- **168.** Health Council of the Netherlands. *Dutch dietary guidelines* 2015. (2015).
- **169.** Swedish National Food Agency. *Find your way to eat greener, not too much and be active.* (2015).
- **170.** Scientific Advisory Committee on Nutrition. *Iron and Health* 2010. (2010).
- 171. EAT GOOD The Finnish Dietary Guidelines.
- **172.** Micha, R., Michas, G. & Mozaffarian, D. Unprocessed red and processed meats and risk of coronary artery disease and type 2 diabetes-an updated review of the evidence. *Curr. Atheroscler. Rep.* 14, 515–524 (2012).
- 173. Kaluza, J., Wolk, A. & Larsson, S. C. Red meat consumption and risk of stroke: a meta-analysis of prospective studies. *Stroke*. 43, 2556–2560 (2012).
- 174. Larsson, S. C. & Orsini, N. Red meat and processed meat consumption and all-cause mortality: a meta-analysis. *Am. J. Epidemiol.* 179, 282–289 (2014).
- **175.** World Health Organisation Regional Office for Europe (Institution). Good Maternal Nutrition The best start in life. (2016).
- 176. De Cosmi, V., Scaglioni, S. & Agostoni, C. Early Taste Experiences and Later Food Choices. *Nutrients* 9, E107 (2017).
- 177. Trout, K. & Wetzel-Effinger, L. Flavor learning in utero and its implications for future obesity and diabetes. *Curr Diab Rep* 12, 60–6 (2012).
- 178. Mennella, J. A., Jagnow, C. P. & Beauchamp, G. K. Prenatal and Postnatal Flavor Learning by Human Infants. *Pediatrics* 107, E88–E88 (2001).
- 179. Horta, B. L., de Mola, C. L. & Victora, C. G. Long-term consequences of breastfeeding on cholesterol, obesity, systolic blood pressure, and type-2 diabetes: systematic review and meta-analysis. *Acta Paediatr.* n/a-n/a (2015).

- 180. Yan, J., Liu, L., Zhu, Y., Huang, G. & Wang, P. P. The association between breastfeeding and childhood obesity: A meta-analysis. *BMC Public Health* 14, 1267 (2014).
- **181.** Global Panel on Agriculture and Food Systems for Nutrition. *Food systems and diets: Facing the challenges of the 21st century.* (2016).
- **182.** Fanzo, J., Downs, S., Marshall, Q., de Pee, S. & Bloem, M. in *Nutrition in Developing Countries* 753–770 (2017).
- **183.** World Health Organization Regional Office for Europe. *European Food and Nutrition Action Plan 2015–2020.* (2014).
- 184. Food and Agriculture Organisation of the United Nations. Rome Declaration of Nutrition. Second Int. Conf. Nutr. 19–21 (2014).
- **185.** FAO/WHO. Proceedings of the Preparatory Technical Meeting for the Joint FAO/WHO Second International Conference on Nutrition. (2013).
- **186.** The Food Foundation. *Food environment policy index for England. Final version.* (2016).
- **187.** Kay, A. The reform of the Common Agricultural Policy: the case of the MacSharry reforms. CAB INTERNATIONAL (CAB INTERNATIONAL, 1998).
- 188. Lang, T. & Rayner, G. Obesity: a growing issue for European policy? J. Eur. Soc. Policy 15, 301–327 (2005).
- **189.** Hawkes, C. Promoting healthy diets and tackling obesity and diet-related chronic diseases: what are the agricultural policy levers? *Food Nutr. Bull.* 28, S312-22 (2007).
- **190.** Consumers International. *The relationship between supermarkets and suppliers: What are the implications for consumers?* (Consumers International, 2012).
- **191.** European Commission (DG Competition). *Working Paper: The interface between EU competition policy and the Common Agriculture Policy (CAP): Competition rules applicable to cooperation agreements between farmers in the dairy sector.* 2010, (EUROPEAN COMMISSION, 2010).
- **192.** Birt C. A CAP on health? The impact of the EU common agricultural policy on public health. (2007).
- **193.** UN. *Transforming our world: the 2030 agenda for sustainable development.* (2016).
- **194.** FoodDrinkEurope. *Promoting an EU industrial policy for food and drink: Competitiveness Report 2013-2014.* (2014).
- **195.** Friel, S. *et al.* A new generation of trade policy: potential risks to diet-related health from the Trans Pacific Partnership agreement. *Global. Health* 9, (2013).
- 196. Monteiro, C. A., Moubarac, J. C., Cannon, G., Ng, S. W. & Popkin, B. Ultra-processed products are becoming dominant in the global food system. *Obes. Rev.* 14, 21–28 (2013).
- 197. Cairns, G., Angus, K., Hastings, G. & Caraher, M. Systematic reviews of the evidence on the nature, extent and effects of food marketing to children. A retrospective summary. *Appetite* 62, 209–215 (2013).
- 198. Koivusalo, M., Schrecker, T. & Labonté, R. in *Globalization and Health: Pathways, Evidence and Policy* (ed. Ronald Labonte Corinne Packer, Vivien Runnels, T. S.) (Routledge, 2009).
- **199.** Weiss, M., Middleton, J. & Schrecker, T. Warning: TTIP could be hazardous to your health. *J. Public Health (Bangkok).* 37, 367–369 (2015).
- **200.** Thow, A. M. *et al.* Will the next generation of preferential trade and investment agreements undermine implementation of the Global Action Plan for Prevention and Control of Noncommunicable Diseases? A prospective policy analysis of the Trans Pacific Partnership Agreement. *Health Policy (New. York).* 119, 88–96 (2015).
- 201. Hirono, K. *et al.* Is health impact assessment useful in the context of trade negotiations? A case study of the Trans Pacific Partnership Agreement. *BMJ Open* 6, (2016).
- **202.** Labonté, R., Schram, A. & Ruckert, A. The Trans-Pacific Partnership: Is It Everything We Feared for Health? *Int. J. Heal. Policy Manag.* 5, 487–496 (2016).
- 203. Kelsey, J. & Wallach, L. 'Investor state' disputes in trade pacts threaten fundamental principles of national judicial systems. (2012).
- **204.** Thow, A. M. & McGrady, B. Protecting policy space for public health nutrition in an era of international investment agreements. *Bull. World Health Organ.* 92, 139–45 (2014).

- **205.** Ruckert, A. *et al.* Policy coherence, health and the sustainable development goals: a health impact assessment of the Trans-Pacific Partnership. *Crit. Public Health* 1–11 (2016).
- **206.** Friel, S. *et al.* Shaping the discourse: What has the food industry been lobbying for in the Trans Pacific Partnership trade agreement and what are the implications for dietary health? *Crit. Public Health* 1–12 (2016).
- **207.** Thow, A. M. *et al.* Regional trade and the nutrition transition: opportunities to strengthen NCD prevention policy in the Southern African Development Community. *Glob. Health Action* 8, (2015).
- **208.** Roberto, C. A. *et al.* Obesity 1 Patchy progress on obesity prevention : emerging examples, entrenched barriers, and new thinking. *Lancet* 6736, (2015).
- **209.** Linn, S. E. Food marketing to children in the context of a marketing maelstrom. *J. Public Health Policy* 25, 367–78 (2004).
- **210.** Boyland, E. J. & Halford, J. C. G. Television advertising and branding. Effects on eating behaviour and food preferences in children. *Appetite* 62, 236–41 (2013).
- **211.** Buijzen, M., Schuurman, J. & Bomhof, E. Associations between children's television advertising exposure and their food consumption patterns: a household diary-survey study. *Appetite* 50, 231–9
- 212. Kelly, J., Turner, J. J. & McKenna, K. What parents think: children and healthy eating. *Br. Food J.* 108, 413–423 (2006).
- Buijzen, M. & Valkenburg, P. M. The effects of television advertising on materialism, parent–child conflict, and unhappiness: A review of research. *J. Appl. Dev. Psychol.* 24, 437–456 (2003).
- **214.** Lobstein, T. *et al.* Child and adolescent obesity: part of a bigger picture. *Lancet* (2015).
- **215.** Winpenny, E. M. *et al.* Exposure of children and adolescents to alcohol marketing on social media websites. *Alcohol Alcohol* 49, 154–9 (2014).
- 216. Gorn, G. J., Goldberg, M. E. Children's Responses to Repetitive Television Commercials on JSTOR. *J. Consum. Res.* 6, 421–424 (1980).
- **217.** Jeffrey, D. B., McLellarn, R. W. & Fox, D. T. The development of children's eating habits: the role of television commercials. *Health Educ. Q.* 9, 174–89 (1982).
- **218.** Boyland, E. J. *et al.* Advertising as a cue to consume: a systematic review and meta-analysis of the effects of acute exposure to unhealthy food and nonalcoholic beverage advertising on intake in children and adults. *Am. J. Clin. Nutr.* 103, 519–533 (2016).
- 219. Mills, S. D. H., Tanner, L. M. & Adams, J. Systematic literature review of the effects of food and drink advertising on food and drink-related behaviour, attitudes and beliefs in adult populations. *Obes. Rev.* 14, 303–314 (2013).
- **220.** Which? More supermarket promotions on less healthy food. Press release 04/08/2016. (2016).
- **221.** Nakamura, R. *et al.* Price promotions on healthier compared with less healthy foods: A hierarchical regression analysis of the impact on sales and social patterning of responses to promotions in Great Britain. *Am. J. Clin. Nutr.* 101, 808–816 (2015).
- **222.** Public Health England. Sugar Reduction : The evidence for action Annexe 4 : An analysis of the role of price promotions on the household purchases of food and drinks high in sugar About Public Health England. 1–43 (2015).
- 223. Heath, R. Emotional Engagement: How Television Builds Big Brands At Low Attention. J. Advert. Res. 49, 62–73 (2009).
- **224.** Ofcom. Children and Parents: media use and attitudes report. (2014).
- **225.** Kelly, B., Vandevijvere, S., Freeman, B. & Jenkin, G. New Media but Same Old Tricks: Food Marketing to Children in the Digital Age. *Curr. Obes. Rep.* (2015).
- 226. Mangold, W. G. & Faulds, D. J. Social media: The new hybrid element of the promotion mix. *Bus. Horiz.* 52, 357–365 (2009).
- 227. Smit, E. G., Van Noort, G. & Voorveld, H. A. M. Understanding online behavioural advertising: User knowledge, privacy concerns and online coping behaviour in Europe. *Comput. Human Behav.* 32, 15–22 (2014).



- **228.** WHO. Set of recommendations on the marketing of foods and non-alcoholic beverages to children. (2010).
- 229. Who. A framework for implementing the set of recommendations on the marketing of foods and non-alcohol beverages to children. 1–61 (2012).
- **230.** Galbraith-Emami, S. & Lobstein, T. The impact of initiatives to limit the advertising of food and beverage products to children: a systematic review. *Obes. Rev.* 14, 960–974 (2013).
- Ericksen, P. J. Conceptualizing food systems for global environmental change research. *Glob. Environ. Chang.* 18, 234–245 (2008).
- **232.** Vermeulen, S. J., Campbell, B. M. & Ingram, J. S. I. Climate Change and Food Systems. *Annu Rev Env. Resour* 195–222 (2012).
- 233. Tilman, D. & Clark, M. Global diets link environmental sustainability and human health. *Nature* 515, 518–522 (2014).
- 234. Popkin, B. M., Adair, L. S. & Ng, S. W. Global nutrition transition and the pandemic of obesity in developing countries. *Nutr. Rev.* 70, 3–21 (2012).
- 235. Hawkes, C. & Popkin, B. M. Can the sustainable development goals reduce the burden of nutrition-related non-communicable diseases without truly addressing major food system reforms? *BMC Med.* 13, 143 (2015).
- **236.** Smith, J. *et al.* Beyond milk, meat, and eggs: role of livestock in food and nutrition security. *Anim. Front.* 3, 6–13 (2013).
- Mekonnen, M. M. & Hoekstra, A. Y. A global assessment of the water footprint of farm animal products. *Ecosystems* 15, 401–415 (2012).
- 238. Hess, T., Andersson, U., Mena, C. & Williams, A. The impact of healthier dietary scenarios on the global blue water scarcity footprint of food consumption in the UK. *Food Policy* 50, 1–10 (2015).
- 239. Nelson, G. C. *et al.* Climate change effects on agriculture: economic responses to biophysical shocks. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* 111, 3274–3279 (2014).
- **240.** Myers, S. S. *et al.* Climate Change and Global Food Systems: Potential Impacts on Food Security and Undernutrition. *Annu. Rev. Public Health* 38, 259–277 (2017).
- **241.** Brown, M. E. *et al. Climate Change, Global Food Security, and the U.S. Food System.* (USDA, 2015).
- 242. Challinor, A. J. *et al.* A meta-analysis of crop yield under climate change and adaptation. *Nat. Clim. Chang.* 4, 287–291 (2014).
- **243.** Nelson, G. C. *et al. Food security, farming, and climate change to 2050: challenges to 2050 and beyond.* (2010).
- 244. Springmann, M. *et al.* Global and regional health effects of future food production under climate change: a modelling study. *Lancet* 387, 1937–1946 (2016).
- **245.** Hallström, E., Carlsson-Kanyama, A. & Börjesson, P. Environmental impact of dietary change: a systematic review. *J. Clean. Prod.* 91, 1–11 (2015).
- **246.** Garnett, T. Plating up solutions. *Science (80-.).* 353, 1202–1204 (2016).
- **247.** Garnett, T., Mathewson, S., Angelides, P. & Borthwick, F. *Policies and actions to shift eating patterns: What works? A review of the evidence of the effectiveness of interventions aimed at shifting diets in more sustainable and healthy directions.* (2015).
- 248. Tom, M. S., Fischbeck, P. S. & Hendricksen, C. T. Energy use, blue water footprint, and greenhouse gas emissions for current food consumption patterns and dietary recommendations in the US. *Environ. Syst. Decis.* 36, 92–103 (2016).
- **249.** Vieux, F., Darmon, N., Touazi, D. & Soler, L. G. Greenhouse gas emissions of self-selected individual diets in France: Changing the diet structure or consuming less? *Ecol. Econ.* 75, 91–101 (2012).
- **250.** World Health Organization Regional Office for Europe. *Health* 2020 A European policy framework and strategy for the 21st century. (2013).
- **251.** World Health Organization Regional Office for Europe. *Vienna* Declaration on Nutrition and Noncommunicable Diseases in the Context of Health 2020. (2013).
- **252.** World Health Organization Regional Office for Europe. Action Plan for implementation of the European Strategy for the Prevention and Control of Noncommunicable Diseases 2012-2016. (2011).

- **253.** World Health Organization Regional Office for Europe. Action plan for the prevention and control of noncommunicable diseases in the WHO European Region. (2016).
- **254.** Marmot, M. Closing the gap in a generation. *Heal. Equity Through Action Soc. Determ. Heal.* 246 (2008).
- **255.** Thow, A. M., Downs, S. & Jan, S. A systematic review of the effectiveness of food taxes and subsidies to improve diets: Understanding the recent evidence. *Nutr. Rev.* 72, 551–565 (2014).
- **256.** Sassi, F. Obesity and the Economics of Prevention Fit not Fat. Oecd 2010, (2010).
- **257.** WHO. Fiscal policies for diet and the prevention of noncommunicable diseases. *WHO* 36 (2016).
- **258.** Dangour, A. D. *et al.* Can nutrition be promoted through agriculture-led food price policies? A systematic review. *BMJ Open* 3, e002937- (2013).
- 259. Zatonski, W., Campos, H. & Willett, W. Rapid declines in coronary heart disease mortality in Eastern Europe are associated with increased consumption of oils rich in alphalinolenic acid. *Eur. J. Epidemiol.* 23, 3–10 (2008).
- **260.** Thow, A. M., Annan, R., Mensah, L. & Chowdhury, S. N. Development, implementation and outcome of standards to restrict fatty meat in the food supply and prevent NCDs: learning from an innovative trade/food policy in Ghana. *BMC Public Health* 14, 249 (2014).
- **261.** Thow, A. M. *et al.* Trade and food policy: Case studies from three Pacific Island countries. *Food Policy* 35, 556–564 (2010).
- **262.** Downs, S. M., Thow, A. M. & Leeder, S. R. The effectiveness of policies for reducing dietary trans fat: a systematic review of the evidence. *Bull. World Health Organ.* 91, 262–9 (2013).
- **263.** Restrepo, B. J. & Rieger, M. Denmark's Policy on Artificial Trans Fat and Cardiovascular Disease. *Am. J. Prev. Med.* 50, 69–76 (2016).
- 264. Brandt, E., Myerson, R., Perraillon, M. & Polonsky, T. Hospital admissions for myocardial infarction and stroke before and after the trans-fatty acid restrictions in new york. *JAMA Cardiol.* 2, 627–634 (2017).
- 265. Temme, E. H. M., Millenaar, I. L., van Donkersgoed, G. & Westenbrink, S. Impact of fatty acid food reformulations on intake of Dutch young adults. *Acta Cardiol.* 66, 721–728 (2011).
- **266.** Niebylski, M. L. *et al.* Healthy food procurement policies and their impact. *Int. J. Environ. Res. Public Health* 11, 2608–2627 (2014).
- 267. Chriqui, J. F., Pickel, M. & Story, M. Influence of school competitive food and beverage policies on obesity, consumption, and availability: a systematic review. *JAMA Pediatr.* 168, 279–286 (2014).
- **268.** Power Up for Health. mpact of healthy food procurement policiesprograms and nutrition standards on sales intake and availability of healthier food and body weight status overview. Evidence synthesis 10. (2014).
- 269. Afshin, A. *et al.* CVD Prevention Through Policy: a Review of Mass Media, Food/Menu Labeling, Taxation/Subsidies, Built Environment, School Procurement, Worksite Wellness, and Marketing Standards to Improve Diet. *Curr. Cardiol. Rep.* 17, (2015).
- **270.** Noonan, K., Sell, K., Miller, D. & Rubin, D. Government Purchasing to Improve Public Health : Theory Practice and Evidence Government Purchasing to Improve Public Health : Theory Practice and Evidence By : (2013).
- **271.** Caldeira, S. *et al. Public Procurement of Food for Health: Technical report on the school setting.* (2017).
- 272. Trieu, K. *et al.* Salt Reduction Initiatives around the World A Systematic Review of Progress towards the Global Target. *PLoS One* 10, e0130247 (2015).
- **273.** Effectiveness of food reformulation as a strategy to improve population health. (National Heart Foundation of Australia, 2012).
- 274. World Health Organization. Fiscal policies for diet and prevention of noncommunicable diseases: technical meeting report, 5-6 May 2015, Geneva, Switzerland. (WHO, 2016).
- **275.** World Health Organisation Regional Office for Europe. Using price policies to promote healthier diets. (2015).

- 276. Powell, L. M., Chriqui, J. F., Khan, T., Wada, R. & Chaloupka, F. J. Assessing the potential effectiveness of food and beverage taxes and subsidies for improving public health: a systematic review of prices, demand and body weight outcomes. *Obes. Rev.* 14, 110–128 (2013).
- **277.** Mozaffarian, D. *et al.* Population approaches to improve diet, physical activity, and smoking habits: a scientific statement from the American Heart Association. *Circulation* 126, 1514–1563 (2012).
- 278. Biro, A. Did the junk food tax make the Hungarians eat healthier? *Food Policy* 54, 107–115 (2015).
- **279.** Osei-Assibey, G. *et al.* The influence of the food environment on overweight and obesity in young children: a systematic review. *BMJ Open* 2, (2012).
- **280.** Harris, J. L., Speers, S. E., Schwartz, M. B. & Brownell, K. D. US Food Company Branded Advergames on the Internet: Children's exposure and effects on snack consumption. *J. Child. Media* 6, 51–68 (2012).
- **281.** Scully, M. *et al.* Association between food marketing exposure and adolescents' food choices and eating behaviors. *Appetite* 58, 1–5 (2012).
- 282. Smithers, L. G., Lynch, J. W. & Merlin, T. Industry self-regulation and TV advertising of foods to Australian children. *J. Paediatr. Child Health* 50, 386–392 (2014).
- 283. Ofcom. HFSS advertising restrictions: Final Review. (2010).
- 284. Scarborough, P. *et al.* How important is the choice of the nutrient profile model used to regulate broadcast advertising of foods to children? A comparison using a targeted data set. *European Journal of Clinical Nutrition* 67, 815–820 (2013).
- **285.** Brinsden, H. & Lobstein, T. Comparison of nutrient profiling schemes for restricting the marketing of food and drink to children. *Pediatr. Obes.* 8, 325–337 (2013).
- 286. Chambers, S. A., Freeman, R., Anderson, A. S. & MacGillivray, S. Reducing the volume, exposure and negative impacts of advertising for foods high in fat, sugar and salt to children: A systematic review of the evidence from statutory and selfregulatory actions and educational measures. *Prev. Med.* (*Baltim*). 75, 32–43 (2015).
- 287. Mandle, J., Tugendhaft, A., Michalow, J. & Hofman, K. Nutrition labelling: a review of research on consumer and industry response in the global South. *Glob. Health Action* 8, 25912 (2015).
- Hersey, J. C., Wohlgenant, K. C., Arsenault, J. E., Kosa, K. M. & Muth, M. K. Effects of front-of-package and shelf nutrition labeling systems on consumers. *Nutr. Rev.* 71, 1–14 (2013).
- 289. Hawley, K. L. et al. The science on front-of-package food labels. Public Health Nutr. 16, 430–439 (2013).
- **290.** Tymms, S. *Design, format and impact of front-of-pack nutrition labelling: an independent review of refereed literature.* 619, (2011).
- 291. Vyth, E. L., Steenhuis, I. H., Roodenburg, A. J., Brug, J. & Seidell, J. C. Front-of-pack nutrition label stimulates healthier product development: a quantitative analysis. *Int. J. Behav. Nutr. Phys. Act.* 7, 65 (2010).
- **292.** Young, L. & Swinburn, B. Impact of the Pick the Tick food information programme on the salt content of food in New Zealand. *Health Promot. Int.* 17, 13–19 (2002).
- 293. Eckel, R. H., Borra, S., Lichtenstein, A. H. & Yin-Piazza, S. Y. Understanding the complexity of trans fatty acid reduction in the American diet: American Heart Association Trans Fat Conference 2006: report of the Trans Fat Conference Planning Group. *Circulation* 115, 2231–2246 (2007).
- 294. Raulio, S., Tapanainen, H., Toivola, L. & Sm, V. Potential Effects of Heart Symbol Compliant Foods on Nutrient Intake. J Nutr. Heal. Food Sci 5, 1–8 (2017).
- 295. Roodenburg, A. J. C., Temme, E. H. M., Davies, O. H. & Seidell, J. C. Potential impact of the Choices Programme on nutrient intakes in the Dutch population. *Nutr. Bull.* 34, 318–323 (2009).
- **296.** Wang, X. *et al.* Fruit and vegetable consumption and mortality from all causes, cardiovascular disease, and cancer: systematic review and dose-response meta-analysis of prospective cohort studies. *Br. Med. J.* 349, g4490 (2014).
- **297.** Hu, D., Huang, J., Wang, Y., Zhang, D. & Qu, Y. Fruits and Vegetables Consumption and Risk of Stroke: A Meta-Analysis of Prospective Cohort Studies. *Stroke* 45, 1613–1619 (2014).

- **298.** World Health Organization. Waist Circumference and Waist-Hip Ratio: Report of a WHO Expert Consultation. *World Heal. Organ.* 8–11 (2008).
- **299.** WHO/FAO/UNU Expert Consultation. Protein and amino acid requirements in human nutrition. *World Health Organ. Tech. Rep. Ser.* 1–265 (2007).
- **300.** European Food Safety Authority. *Dietary reference values for water. Scientific opinion of the panel on dietetic products, nutrition and allergies.* (2008).
- **301.** Ha, V. *et al.* Effect of dietary pulse intake on established therapeutic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. *Can. Med. Assoc. J.* 186, 252–262 (2014).
- **302.** Rebello, C. J., Greenway, F. L. & Finley, J. W. Whole grains and pulses: A comparison of the nutritional and health benefits. *J. Agric. Food Chem.* 62, 7029–7049 (2014).



Annex: Proposed population goals

Table I Proposed population goals for foods and other related goals

	POPULATION GOALS	EXPLANATORY COMMENT	
FOODS			
Fruit and vegetables	Intermediate: More than 400 g/day. Long-term: More than 600 g/day These are specific target goals.	The evidence that higher intakes of fruits and vegetables are protective against premature death ²⁹⁶ and, more specifically, against cardiovascular deaths ²⁹⁶ and the risk of stroke ²⁹⁷ has strengthened in recent years. Increasing fruit and vegetable intakes is also important when replacing fat intakes. This includes processed fruit and vegetables, including frozen, canned, etc. Consumption of potatoes or fruit juice does not count towards the fruit and vegetable goal.	
Sugar- sweetened drinks	Intermediate: Decrease as much as possible. Long-term: Virtually zero. These are marker goals for an optimal dietary pattern for cardiovascular health.	This relates to beverages containing added caloric sweeteners such as sucrose or high-fructose corn syrup. It does not relate to fruit juices, but to meet the goals for free sugars, consumption of fruit juices should also be low (See Chapter 2 and Sugars in Table II). Sugar-sweetened drinks are major contributors to free sugars consumption and limiting consumption as much as possible is recommended, especially in those struggling to maintain a healthy weight.	
OTHER RELATED GOALS			
Body mass index (BMI)	 Intermediate: Average BMI of less than 23 for adults. Long-term: Average BMI of 21 for adults. These are marker goals of a healthy pattern of diet and lifestyle for cardiovascular health. 	A healthy weight is recommended to reduce cardiovascular risk by preventing raised blood pressure and dyslipidaemia and reducing the risk of developing type 2 diabetes. These goals reflect average BMI for the whole population. Recommendations may be different for people with particular clinical conditions, such as heart failure. Optimal weight is higher in people over 70 ⁶⁷ and being underweight is associated with health risks in older people. BMI is only one measure of body composition or 'fatness'. The ratio of waist to hip circumference and simple waist circumference are also used. A waist circumference of \geq 94 cm in men and \geq 80 cm in women represents increased risk and \geq 102 in men and \geq 88 in women represents substantially increased risk. ^{298,67} None of these anthropometric measures are able to give very precise estimates, but they are all moderately or strongly associated with CVD risk and they are valuable population markers of body composition.	

Table II Proposed population goals for nutrients and other components

	POPULATION GOALS	EXPLANATORY COMMENT
NUTRIENTS AND OTH	HER COMPONENTS	
Saturated fat (SFA)	Intermediate goal: Less than 10% of calories for the general population and less than 7% of calories for a population at a high risk for heart disease, less than one-third of total fat.	There is convincing evidence that partial replaceme (PUFA) and complex carbohydrates, decreases the disease. SFA should make up less than one-third of should be at least two-thirds of total fat intake.
	Long-term goal: 7% of calories, and less than one-third of total fat.	Replacing SFA with simple carbohydrates has unfave consistent benefit. Saturated fats should be replace carbohydrates.
	This is a target goal with a direct impact on CVD outcomes.	There is general consensus that the intake of SFA s at high risk for heart disease.
Trans fats (TFA)	Not more than 0.5% of calories from TFA, of which 0% should be from industrially-produced TFA.	Based on experimental and many observational studinduces a hazardous blood lipid profile and increase of TFA should be as low as possible.
	This is a target goal with a direct impact on CVD outcomes.	It is important that TFA are replaced with unsaturat
Total fat	About 25% of calories. This is marker goal for an optimal diet for cardiovascular	Reducing the total fat to 25% of calories – together consumption to more than 400 g/d – will substantia gain. This goal is, therefore, based on the need to l
		Total fat should be partially replaced with fibre-rich Unsaturated fats (total of mono- and polyunsaturate insufficient evidence to set a precise recommendat
Total carbohydrate	Intermediate: More than 55% of calories	The goal for total carbohydrate is obtained by calcu consumed according to the goals presented here.
	This goal is a marker of a healthy dietary pattern for cardiovascular health.	It is important that the carbohydrate be derived prin Refined cereal products should be replaced with wh
Free sugars	Intermediate: Less than 10% of calories.	EHN's previous recommendation related to 'added when the second s
	Long-term: Not more than 5% of calories. This is a marker goal for an optimal dietary pattern for cardiovascular health.	The recommendation is to limit free sugars consum healthy weight.
Fibre* * Using the AOAC	At least 12.6 g dietary fibre* per 1000 kcal (3 g per MJ energy).	This goal refers to natural fibre-rich foods, including seeds.
definition	This is both a target goal , with a direct impact, <i>and</i> a marker goal for a healthy diet for cardiovascular health.	These goals are solely based on the AOAC definition polysaccharides (a different definition of fibre). Sin has simplified the goals by focusing on this definiti
Salt	Less than 5 g of salt (2 g of sodium) per day. This is a specific target goal, directly related to cardiovascular outcomes.	Sustained reduction in salt intake causes a fall in b associated with a reduction in stroke and heart atta linear relationship between sodium intake and CVD salt intakes might be associated with increased risk results (See Chapter 2).



nt of saturated with unsaturated fat, especially polyunsaturated fats concentrations of both total and LDL cholesterol and the risk of heart total fat intake, while unsaturated fats (total of mono- and PUFA)

ourable effects, but lower fat, high-fibre diets are associated with d with unsaturated fats, particularly PUFA, and fibre-rich complex

hould be less than 10% of calories and less than 7% for a population

lies, a high intake of TFA is considered very harmful, because it as the risk of heart disease. There is general consensus that the intake

ed fats or fibre-rich complex carbohydrates.

with a lower free sugar intake and an increase in vegetable and fruit ally reduce the energy density of the diet and help minimise weight mit the energy density of the diet for inactive European populations s and, in the long term, heart disease.

complex unrefined carbohydrates, rather than refined carbohydrates. d fats) should be at least two-thirds of total fat intake. There is on for the ratio of n-6 PUFA to n-3 PUFA.

ating the remaining portion of food energy, if total fat and protein are

ncipally from whole grain cereals, fruit, berries, vegetables and legumes. ole grain products.

sugars', but this recommendation relates to 'free sugars', in line with sugars in honey, syrups and fruit juices.

ption as much as possible, especially in those struggling to maintain a

whole grain cereals, pulses, vegetables, fruits and berries, nuts and

of dietary fibre. EHN's previous goals included a goal for non-starch ce the AOAC definition has been adopted by Codex and the EU, EHN on.

lood pressure in almost everyone, and reducing blood pressure is cks. Well-conducted prospective studies support a graded, positive and deaths and overall death rates. Studies which had suggested that lower of CVD events suffer from measurement errors and, hence, erroneous

Notes to tables:

Population goals: These goals represent a recommended average intake or level for the population as a whole; they are not dietary guidelines for individuals. The goals refer to a desirable everyday diet and should not be taken to mean that individuals should *never* deviate from them. These goals do not take account of genetic variations in how individuals respond to dietary risk factors or individual susceptibility to disease. There is growing evidence in this field and increasing scope for personalised clinical nutrition counselling services.

Furthermore, the process of defining population goals is, to some extent, a matter of judgement. The population goal seeks to identify a point where the risk of CVD is reduced, but which is also practical and acceptable in the contemporary European context.

Intermediate and long-term goals

In some cases, two different sets of population goals are proposed:

- Intermediate targets based on an assessment of current dietary patterns in Europe and including pragmatic considerations of what might realistically be aimed for in the next five to 10 years;
- Ambitious longer-term goals which highlight the levels we should ultimately be aiming for, if the pragmatic constraints that feed into the intermediate targets can be overcome.

In other cases, it is considered so important to start working towards the long-term goal immediately that no intermediate target is proposed.

Specific 'target' and 'marker' goals

For these reasons two distinct types of population goal are proposed:

- Specific target goals that have a *direct* impact on CVD outcomes, independently of other aspects of the diet.
- Other marker goals that have an *indirect* impact on CVD outcomes and are indicators of an ideal diet for cardiovascular health.

Physical activity: This paper does not cover the science and policy options relating to physical activity. The relationship between physical activity and nutrition is complex, and physical activity can influence what people eat, as well as how many calories they expend. These population goals are designed for current Europeans, who tend to be relatively inactive. As well as efforts to reduce calorie intake, measures to increase energy expenditure by enabling, supporting and promoting physical activity are needed.

Percentage of calories (energy): When the goals are expressed as a percentage of calories (food energy), this represents the proportion of the total calorie intake from all food and drink consumed **excluding alcohol**.

Protein: Although a goal for protein intakes is not necessary in relation to the prevention of CVD, WHO and FAO recommend from 10% up to 20% of total calories should come from protein of reasonable quality.

Total calorie intake should be adequate to support growth and development, as well as physical activities, and to reach and maintain desirable body weight and **micronutrient intakes** should be adequate to ensure health, according to existing recommendations for people of different age, gender, etc.

Saturated fat: There is considerable media interest in whether some types of saturated fat – such as dairy fat or coconut oil – are less 'unhealthy' than others. Although scientists have been exploring the associations between specific individual saturated fatty acids and health outcomes, there is not currently enough evidence to justify population goals for individual saturated fatty acids.

Breastfeeding: No population goal for breastmilk or breastfeeding is included in the table. WHO recommends exclusive breastfeeding for six months followed by complementary feeding and continued breastfeeding for up to two years or beyond, and countries in the European region have signed up to WHO's global target to increase rates of exclusive breastfeeding for six months up to at least 50% by 2025. Some national authorities in Europe advise that complementary feeding can sometimes be introduced at four months, while acknowledging the importance of ideally complying with the WHO guideline.

Water: The European Food Safety Authority has proposed that adequate total water intakes (from food and drinks) should be 2 litres for women and 2.5 litres for men. Requirements will be higher in hotter climates or for people involved in vigorous physical activity, and are more critical for children and older people. Given the contribution of sugary drinks to calorie intakes, it is important that supportive policies are in place to ensure easy access to drinking water.

Folate: No population goal is proposed for folate from food. EHN's Nutrition Expert Group considers that inclusion of any recommendations for particular foods specifically because of their folate content or for folic supplements is not warranted for CVD prevention. Folate intake should be adequate to ensure health, according to existing recommendations for different population groups. Optimal B-vitamin status can be achieved with a cardiovascular health-promoting diet that includes leafy green vegetables, whole grain foods, lean meat and low-fat dairy products.

Antioxidants and polyphenols: No population goal is proposed for antioxidants and polyphenols. EHN's Nutrition Expert Group considers that a cardiovascular health-promoting diet provides abundant antioxidants and that there is not enough evidence to justify making any public health recommendation for particular foods specifically because of their content of antioxidants or polyphenols. EHN does not recommend taking supplements because there is evidence of no benefit and at high levels there is evidence of harm. Supplements are no remedy for a poor diet.

Phytosterols (plant sterols and stanols): EHN does not propose a population goal for phytosterols (plant sterols and stanols), because these are only meant for people with high blood cholesterol levels.

Alcohol: The official definitions of how much alcohol is in a 'drink' or a 'unit' vary between countries. The definition in this paper is 10 g of alcohol (ethanol). Consumption of three or more alcoholic drinks per day is associated with increased CVD risk. Moderate alcohol consumption (one or two drinks per day) has been associated with a lower risk of CVD than in people who drink no alcohol at all, but the possibility that this is due to other factors cannot be excluded. Furthermore, recent research has shed doubt on this association (with non-drinkers having the lowest risks for cardiovascular outcomes). We cannot conclude from this that alcohol is protective and, therefore, cannot recommend that people consume alcohol for cardiovascular benefit.

Pulses: Regular consumption of dietary pulses (the dried seeds from the legume family such as beans, chickpeas, lentils and peas) is recommended by some authorities and pulses are a very important component of the diet for vegetarians and vegans. Pulses have a higher protein content than cereals, are rich in calcium, iron, zinc, folate and pro-vitamin A and are more affordable than meat and dairy protein sources. They are a significant source of dietary fibre and have a low glycaemic index. There is some emerging evidence that daily consumption of a 130 g serving of pulses can reduce LDL cholesterol levels and that higher pulse intakes are associated with lower risk of heart disease, reduced blood pressure and obesity.

Colonic flora: A cardiovascular health-promoting diet will include plentiful dietary fibre. While there is a lot of interest in microorganisms in the gut and the possible implications for nutrition, EHN's Nutrition Expert Group considers the emerging data is not yet complete enough to make any firm recommendations.

European Heart Network Rue Montoyer 31 B-1000 Brussels BELGIUM

 Tel
 + 32 2 512 91 74

 Fax
 + 32 2 503 35 25

 Email
 info@ehnheart.org

 URL
 www.ehnheart.org



fighting heart disease and stroke european heart network